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1. DEPARTMENT GENERAL INFORMATION  

 

PHYSICAL ADDRESS:     Glen 

                                            Bloemfontein 

                                            9360 

 
POSTAL ADDRESS:   Private Bag X02 

                                     Glen 

     Bloemfontein 

                                    9360 

 
TELEPHONE NUMBER/S:   027 51 861 8410 

FAX NUMBER:   027 51 861 8454 

EMAIL ADDRESS:    pa.hodagric@fs.agric.za 

WEBSITE ADDRESS   :  http://www.ard.fs.gov.za 
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2. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS 
 

AGSA Auditor General of South Africa 

AO  Accounting Officer 

BBBEE Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment 

CFO Chief Financial Officer 

MEC Member of Executive Council 

HOD Head of Department 

PFMA Public Finance Management Act 

TR    Treasury Regulations 

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework 

SMME Small Medium and Micro Enterprises 

SCM Supply Chain Management 

EU European Union 

SITA State Information Technology Agency 

SDIP Service Delivery Improvement Plan 
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3. FOREWORD BY THE MINISTER/MEC 

 

 
Dr. B. Malakoane 

MEC for Agriculture and Rural Development  

 

It gives me a great pleasure to present the Annual Report of the Department of 

Agriculture and Rural Development (DARD) for the 2017/18 financial year. The 

Department was guided by key government policies and plans for the medium term, 

including the National Development Plan (NDP), the New Growth Path (NGP), the 

Medium Term Strategic Framework (MTSF) and in particular the Free State Agriculture 

and Rural Development Master Plans. 

Every journey begins with its own challenges, and every challenge is the beginning of a 

new journey. The beginning of every term of government administration has never been a 

walk in the park and the same goes with the beginning of the 5th administration. 

It is yet another time of reflecting back on commitments presented by the Department of 

Agriculture and Rural Development in the beginning of the financial year 2016/17. The 

Department managed to achieve a lot in our endeavour to Farmer Support, Food 

Security, Unemployment and Rural & Economic Development. 

To contribute positively towards the food security status of the country, the Department 

supported 141 Smallholder and 27 Commercial producers in various ways, among others, 

the provision of inputs, training and advisory services. A further 6 903 producers were 

supported with the Agricultural advice. 
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Continuing to deliver services to better the lives of our people, 14 025 households and 

44 905 people benefited from agricultural food security initiatives. We have indeed made 

a progress by performing 189 885 tests in the fight against controlled diseases, with 

Brucellosis control having contributed immensely to more samples being submitted to the 

two provincial labs for diagnosis.  

During the period under review, 17 Research and Technology Development Projects 

implemented to improve agricultural production. As one of the productive sectors in the 

economy, the Agricultural sector has the potential of contributing tremendously towards 

economic growth and job creation. The Department managed to train 2 052 participants in 

Agricultural skills development programmes and 14 projects supported through 

mentorship. 

The Department continued with the campaign of acknowledging and rewarding women 

entrepreneurs contributing towards food security, agrarian transformation and economic 

development through Female Entrepreneur Awards Programme. The aim of the awards is 

to encourage women, both young and old and those with disabilities to become 

entrepreneurs and to venture into export markets. 

This Annual Report provides us with the true reflection of what we have gone through, 

how far we have gone on our journey of service delivery and further outlines the 

meaningful difference we have made in the lives of the people of the Free State as far as 

service delivery is concerned. 

The Department further intends to continue with its agro-processing/value-adding projects 

which are critical to our economic development of the Free State. Our province’s 

traditional strength is in the production of a variety of primary products. Adding value to 

these products will make a significant contribution to the transformation of agriculture in 

the province. It will further help to create a number of decent jobs within our borders.  

It is for this reason that as a Department, we consciously decided to strengthen our 

relationship with organised agriculture to steer our agricultural ship out of the unsettled 

environment. We want our commercial farmers to also work closely with our resource 

poor emerging farmers and transfer to them the skills they have acquired over the years. 

The approach of working together to achieve more becomes even more appropriate as 

our success as a sector depends on each other’s efforts. This will help us to restore and 

improve our status as the bread basket of the country. 
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In conclusion, I would like to express my gratitude to the Farmer’s Unions, Commodity 

groups and all other stakeholders for continued cooperation and working closely with the 

Department to achieve our mandate. We know that our work would not be as noticeable 

without your dedicated an unwavering support. 

I will further like to give thanks to the personnel and management of the Department for 

your commitment in serving the people of the Free State province. 
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4. REPORT OF THE ACCOUNTING OFFICER 

 

 
Ms G. Brown 

Acting Accounting Officer 

Department of Agriculture and Rural Development 

 

The annual report covers the financial year 2017/2018 achievements and challenges of 

the department striving for implementation of the strategic objectives. 

a) The department has planned to improve effective leadership, good governance and 

control environment through the achievement of 80% on MPAT assessment by 2020. 

This journey began with 44% achievement when the Management Performance 

Assessment Tool (MPAT) was introduced in 2014/15. The department has begun the 

process of skills audit and reviewing placement of officials for best utilisation of its 

human capital, to ensure consistent improvement of governance structures, planning 

and performance management, and financial management. In 2017, the department 

registered the achievement of 59% on MPAT.  

b) As one of the important strategic objectives, the department must ensure the 

promotion of sustainable use and management of natural resources by protecting 

36 220ha of agricultural land through Engineering services, Land Care, Land Use 

Management, and Disaster Risk Management by 2020. In the financial year under 

review, 7 637 ha of land was protected for agricultural production, with 377 green 

jobs, and 104 Full Time Equivalent (FTE’s) jobs create 
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c) During 2017/18 financial year, the continued drought spell hampered the 

achievements against planned targets in the agricultural sector. 141 smallholder 

producers were supported against 121 which had been planned. The department 

also provided agricultural advice to 6 903 producers, with 33 jobs created for the 

period under review. All these efforts were made to provide comprehensive 

agricultural support services to 14 700 producers by 2020. 

d) To ensure household and nutrition security to 25 625 households by 2020, 3 862ha of 

land was cultivated for food production, with 14 025 households, and 44 905 

beneficiaries participating in our agricultural food security initiatives. 

e) We are on track to improve health of animal population in the province. To this effect, 

189 885 tests were performed in accordance with ISO 17025 standards while 

average percentage level of abattoirs compliance to meat safety legislation reached 

78%. 

f) On the provision of agri-business development support as well as macro-economic 

statistical information, 15 smallholder producers were supported for export and 

markets access, with 398 clients benefitting through agricultural economic advice. 

g) Our farmers continue to access our agricultural training and development initiatives. 

This access is attested by 2 052 participants trained in agricultural skills development 

programmes for the period under review. 

The department has been using the Implementing Agents to manage and implement projects for, 

and on behalf of beneficiaries. We managed to spend R211 210 000, representing 87.3% spent 

on conditional grants for the year under review. These grants were constituted by 86.9% spent 

(R148 342 000) on Comprehensive Agricultural Support Programme (CASP), 87.1% spent 

(R55 003 000) on Ilima/Letsema, and 100% spent (R5 865 000) on Land Care. 

 
 

Departmental revenue 

2017/2018 2016/2017 

Estimate Actual 
Amount 

Collected 

(Over)/ 
Under 

Collection 
 

Estimate 
 

Actual 
Amount 

Collected 

(Over) 
/Under 

Collection 
 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Tax Revenue - - - - - - 

Casino taxes - - - - - - 

Horse racing taxes  - - - - - - 

Liquor licences - - - - - - 

Motor vehicle licences - - - - - - 

Sale of goods and services other than capital assets 1 988 2 259 (271) 1 932 2 180 (248) 

Transfers received - - - - - - 

Fines, penalties and forfeits - - - - - - 

Interest, dividends and rent on land 2 8 (6) 2 3 (1) 

Sale of capital assets -  - 492 349 143 

Financial transactions in assets and liabilities 174 777 (603) 399 1 475 (1076) 

Total 2 230 3 044 (814) 2 825 4 007 (1 182) 
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The Department collected revenue worth R3.044 million during 2017/18 financial year. This was 

R814 000 more than the adjusted budget largely due to increase in the sale of goods and 

services other than capital assets and transactions in financial assets and liabilities.  

The Department has a formally approved tariff policy and the rates charged for specific 

chargeable services are reviewed annually on the basis of trends in market prices, the inflation 

rate, simple escalation or discounted tariffs as a result of sound reasons why fully market-related 

tariffs could not be charged. The following services were performed against set rates: 

• Accommodation at Glen for formal and non-formal training courses and sessions; 

•  The use of departmental venues by other parties; 

• Veterinary professional and laboratory diagnostic and analytical services; 

• Veterinary inspections and the issue of certificates and permits; 

• Soil and water analysis performed at Glen. 

 

Free services 

Most of the core services rendered by the Department to commercial and emerging farmers are 

delivered free of any charge. Examples of these include engineering and economic services, land 

care, extension, some animal disease control, general advisory and some non-formal training 

services. An element of subsidy is involved in the Disaster Management Programme 

implemented on behalf of the National Department of Agriculture. It was not possible to cost 

these services that are generally provided by government free of charge. It will, however, have to 

be done at some point in the future in order to better align the budget with the Strategic Plan or 

the other way around if the current sequence of events is taken into account.  

Programme Expenditure  

 
 

Programme Name 
2017/2018 2016/2017 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual  
Expenditure 

(Over)/ Under 
Expenditure  

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual  
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure  

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Administration 187 542 178 006 9 536 159 959 158 755 1 204 

Sustainable Resource 
Management 

34 078 34 059 18 33 695 33 676 19 

Farmer Support and 
Development 

388 868 329 298 59 570 396 572 385 636 10 936 

Veterinary Services 59 027 58 969 58 55 868 55 621 247 

Technology, Research and 
Development Services 

54 273 52 470 1 803 55 882 55 815 67 

Agricultural Economics 11 697 11 692 5 10 061 10 050 11 

Structured Agricultural 
Training 

26 123 25 838 285 20 550 20 411 139 

Rural Development 8 721 8 711 10 14 094 13 965 129 

Total 770 329 699 043 71 286 746 681 733 929 12 752 
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Programme 
Name 

2017/18 

Reasons for under/(over) spending 
Final 

Appropriation 
Actual 

Expenditure 
(Over)/ Under 
Expenditure  

 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Administration 187 542 178 006 9 536 

Underspending on transfers and subsidies due to the payment of 
bursaries to non-employees which was paid in advance to 
DIRCO but due to documentation awaiting from the embassies 
could not allocate the expenditure 

Sustainable 
Resource 
Management 

34 078 34 059 19 
Due to saving on compensation of employees and goods and 
services due to the implementation of cost containment 
measures. 

Farmer Support 
and 
Development 

388 868 329 298 59 570 
Due to projects under implementation.  Amount requested for 
roll over 

Veterinary 
Services 

59 027 58 969 58 
Equipment ordered but not delivered during year end.  Amount 
requested for roll over 

Technology, 
Research and 
Development 
Services 

54 273 52 470 1 803 
Due to projects under implementation.  Amount requested for 
roll over 

Agricultural 
Economics 

11 697 11 692 5 
Saving on goods and services due to the implementation of cost 
containment measures 

Structured 
Agricultural 
Training 

26 123 25 838 285 
Saving on goods and services due to the implementation of cost 
containment measures 

Rural 
Development 

8 721 8 711 10 
Saving on goods and services due to the implementation of cost 
containment measures 

Total 770 329 699 043 71 286  

 
The Accounting Officer of the Department approved a number of virements of funds at the end of 

the financial year under review. Of these, most addressed possible overspending at sub-

programme and programme level. The net virement of voted funds between programmes can be 

summarised as follows: 

Programme [R’000] Purpose 

1. Administration 10 013 
Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

2. Sustainable Resource Management (349) 
Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

3. Farmer Support and  
Development 

(6 627) 
Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

4. Veterinary Services (202) 
Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

5. Technology, Research and Development 

Services 
(3 268) 

Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

6. Agricultural Economics (2) 
Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

7. Structured Agricultural Training 665 
Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

8. Rural Development (230) 
Redirection of savings to counter of possible over-expenditure 

of the main division 

Total -  
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No unauthorised expenditure or fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred during the 2017/18 

financial year. 
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5. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY FOR THE 

ANNUAL REPORT 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:  

 

a) All information and amounts disclosed throughout the annual report are consistent.  

b) The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any omissions. 

c) The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the 

annual report as issued by National Treasury. 

d) The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with 

the modified cash standard and the relevant frameworks and guidelines issued by 

the National Treasury. 

e) The Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial 

statements and for the judgements made in this information.   

f) The Accounting Officer is responsible for establishing, and implementing a system 

of internal control that has been designed to provide reasonable assurance as to 

the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the human resources 

information and the annual financial statements. 

g) The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the 

annual financial statements. 

h) In my opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance 

information, the human resources information and the financial affairs of the 

department for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. 
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6. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW 

6.1. Vision  

A dynamic, prosperous agricultural sector and a better life for rural communities in the 

Free State 

 

6.2. Mission 

To empower the agricultural sector through the provisioning and facilitation of 

comprehensive agricultural development supported and investment solution in order to 

ensure rural development and continuous economic growth and sustainable livelihoods.  

 

6.3. Values 

The core values of the department are informed by the letter and spirit of the Constitution 

of the Republic of South Africa (Act No. 108 of 1996). These are the guiding principles 

that will define how the Department would conduct itself in performance of its business: 

 Commitment to good governance 

 Equitable use of scares resources  

 Transparency and accountability to stakeholders 

 Dedication, integrity and professionalism  

 

7. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES 

7.1.  Constitutional mandates 

The Department of Agriculture and Rural Development is an integral part of the South 

African Public Service established in terms of section 197 of the Constitution as read with 

section 7(1) and 7(2) of the Public Service Act (Act No. 103 of 1994). 

7.2. Legislative mandates 

A. Transformation legislation 

 The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996) 

 Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997 (Act No. 75 of 1997) 

 Skills Development Levies Act, 1999 (Act No. 9 of 1999) 

 General and Further Education and Training Quality Assurance Act, 2001 (Act No. 
58 of 2001) 

 Higher Education and Training Act, 1997 (Act No. 101 of 1997) 

 Adult Basic Education Training Act, 2000 (Act No. 52 of 2000) 

 Designated Areas Development Act, 1997 (Act No. 87 of 1997) 
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B. Veterinary and animal health related legislation 

 Veterinary and Para-Veterinary Professions Act, 1982 (Act No.19 of 1982) 

 Animal Diseases Act, 1984 (Act No. 35 of 1984) 

 Abattoir Hygiene Act, 1992 

 Problem Animals Control Ordinance, 1978 (ORD No. 38 of 1965) 

 Livestock Brands Act, 1962 (Act No. 87 of 1962) 

 Livestock Improvement Act, 1977 (Act No. 25 of 1977) 

 Meat Safety Act, 2000 (Act No. 40 of 2000) 
 

 South African Medicines and Medical Devices Regulatory Authority Act, 1998 (Act 
No.132 of 1998) 

 The International Code for Laboratory Diagnostic Procedure for Animal Diseases 
of the World Organisation for Animal Health 

 

C. Research (Animal, Aquaculture, Plant and Crop related legislation & 

Policies) 

 Agricultural Pests Act, 1983 (Act No. 36 of 1983); 

 Agricultural Research Act, 1990 (Act No. 86 of 1990); 

 Agricultural Products Standards Act, 1990; 

 Fertilisers, Farm feeds, Agricultural remedies and Stock remedies Act, 1947; 

 Plant Breeder’s Right Act (Act No. 15 of 1976); 

 Plant Improvement Act, 1976 (Act No. 53 of 1976); 

 National Veld and Forest Fire Act, 1998 (Act No. 101 of 1998); 

 Genetically Modified Organisms Act, 1997 (Act No. 15 of 1997); 

 Animal Improvement Act, 1998 (Act No. 62 of 1998); 
 

Frameworks / Policies / Strategies / Plans 

 National Agricultural Research and Development Strategy (NARDS) of DAFF of 
2008 

 National Research and Development Strategy (NRDS) of DST of 2002; 

 Draft National Research Policy for South Africa, Version 6.2, 2013. 

 National Agricultural Research Agenda (2014 – 2019)   
 

D. Soil Conservation and Land Care 

 Engineering Services Act (Act No. 46 of 2000) 

 Designated Areas Development Act, 1997 (Act No. 87 of 1979) 

 Soil user planning ordinance (Ordinance 15 of 1985) 
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 Conservation of Agricultural Resources Act, 1983 

 National Environmental Management Act, (Act No. 107 of 1998) 

 Environment Conservation Act (Act No. 73 of 1989) 
 

E. Land and land reform 

 Land Reform Act, 1997 (Act No. 3 of 1997) 

 Subdivision of Agricultural Land Act, 1970 (Act No. 70 of 1970) (pending repeal) 

 Provision of Land and Assistance Act, 1993 (Act No. 126 of 1993) 

 Nature and Environmental Conservation Ordinance 19 of 1974 

 Nature Reserve Validation Ordinance, Ordinance 3 of 1982 
 

F. Administrative Legislation 

A number of national transversal laws and regulations the Department of 

Agriculture and Rural Development’s administrative functions: 

 Employment Equity Act (Act No. 55 of 1998) 

 Local Government: Municipal Property Rates Act, (Act No. 6 of 2004) 

 Public Finance Management Act  (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 
1999) 

 Division of Revenue Act (Annually) 

 Public Service Act (Act No. 103 of 1994) and Regulations, 2001 

 Labour Relations Act (Act No. 66 of 1995) 

 Promotion of Access to Information Act (Act No. 2 of 2000) 

 Occupational Health and Safety Act (Act No. 85 of 1993) 

 Employment of Education and Training Act (Act No. 76 of 1998) 

 SITA Act (No. 88 of 1998, as amended by Act 38 of 2002) 

G.   Policy Mandates 

 White Paper on Agriculture 1995 

 White Paper on Sustainable Forest Development in South Africa, 1996 

 White Paper on Marine Fisheries Policy for South Africa 

 National Aquaculture Policy Framework for South Africa, 2013; 

 Draft National Inland Fisheries Policy Framework for South Africa, 2016 

 New Growth Path 

 Free State Growth and Development Strategy 

 National Infrastructure Plan - Strategic Integrated Projects 

 Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa 
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 National Industrial Policy Framework 

 Medium Term Strategic Framework 

 Land Reform Policy 

 Implementation Framework for the Land Care Programme 

 Policy on sustainable agricultural development 

 Comprehensive Rural Development Programme (CRDP) 

 Integrated Strategy on the Promotion of Entrepreneurship and Small Enterprises, 
2005 

 The Integrated Food Security Strategy for South Africa 

 Livelihoods Development Support Programme 

 Agricultural Policy in South Africa (1998) 

 Drought Management Plan (2005) 

 AgriBEE Framework for Agriculture 

 Competition Act 

 NEPAD and CAADP 

 SADC Trade Protocols 

H.  Relevant court rulings 

 No court rulings 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE: 
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8. ENTITIES REPORTING TO THE MINISTER/MEC 

 No entities that report to the Minister/MEC. 

Name of Entity Legislative Mandate Financial Relationship Nature of Operations 

N/A - - - 
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1. AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT: PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES 

The AGSA currently performs certain audit procedures on the performance information to 

provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on 

the performance against predetermined objectives is included in the report to 

management, with material findings being reported under the Predetermined Objectives 

heading in the Report on other legal and regulatory requirements section of the auditor’s 

report. 

Refer to page 126 of the Report of the Auditor General, published as Part E: Financial 

Information. 

2. OVERVIEW OF DEPARTMENTAL PERFORMANCE 

2.1 Service Delivery Environment 

2.1.1 Natural Resource Overview 

The Free State Province forms the central province of South Africa. It almost encloses the 

Kingdom of Lesotho. Figure 1 shows the map of the Free State with its five district 

municipalities namely, Xhariep, Lejweleputswa, Fezile Dabi, Thabo Mofutsanyane, and 

Mangaung Metropole. The local municipalities are listed in Table 1. The Free State is the 

third largest province in South Africa in terms of area (129 480 square miles or 12.9458 

million hectares) and comprises 10.6% of the total area of the country. Situated entirely on 

the highveld plateau, mountainous land is restricted to the eastern plateau rim. Level to 

undulating plains dominate the topography.  

2.1.2 Geographical overview 

The Free State Province occupies 10.6% of the total South African land mass and, as 

mentioned, is considered to be one of the most important food hubs of the country, with 

3.2 million hectares of cultivated land. In the context of the global food insecurity 

concerns, the province is poised to maintain its “breadbasket” status.  

The Free State is situated in the central part of South Africa with borders with six 

provinces as well as an international border with Lesotho to the east.  

The province is divided into four district municipalities and one metropole - Xhariep, 

Mangaung Metropole, Lejweleputswa, Thabo Mofutsanyane and Fezile Dabi. Mangaung 

Metropole comprising Bloemfontein, Botshabelo, Thaba Nchu and Naledi and currently 

has the largest share of the province’s population. Resource endowment in the form of 

natural resources such as rainfall, soil quality, vegetation, topography, etc. determines 

resource use and output supply potentials in the province.  
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The Xhariep District is composed of the Letsemeng, Kopanong and Mohokare local 

municipalities and is located in the south-west of the province. It is a semi-arid area with 

extensive farming, mainly sheep. The district comprises open grasslands with small 

widely dispersed towns. The Mangaung Metropole contains a large population and 

comprises mainly open grassland, with mountains in the easternmost region. The main 

urban centre is Bloemfontein. 

The Thabo Mofutsanyane District is composed of Mantsopa, Setsoto, Dihlabeng, 

Nketoana, Maluti-a-Phofung and Phumelela local municipalities. It borders Lesotho to the 

east and has beautiful hills and fruit farms. The district is one of the most important 

tourism destinations, mainly because of the spectacular scenic beauty of the Drakensberg 

and Maluti mountain ranges. The Fezile Dabi District is composed of Moqhaka, Ngwathe, 

Metsimaholo and Mafube local municipalities. It is an important agricultural production 

area, particularly for maize. The Vaal Dam is the main source of water and offers a wide 

variety of sports and leisure facilities. The Lejweleputswa District is composed of 

Masilonyana, Tokologo, Tswelopele, Matjhabeng and Nala local municipalities. It boasts 

goldfields and it is a major agricultural area. The district forms part of the larger 

Witwatersrand basin. The first gold was discovered here in the early 1940s. 

The Free State is characterised by wide differences in population distribution and 

economic activity between its major urban areas and the better-developed rural parts on 

the one hand and poorly-developed former homelands on the other. Historically, restricted 

mobility and economic freedom of a large portion of the population have left severely 

distorted land-use, labour utilisation and economic growth patterns when viewed against 

the Free State’s development potentials.  

In terms of economic functionality, the Free State can be divided into large urban areas 

(Bloemfontein, Botshabelo, Thaba Nchu, the Free State Goldfields – Welkom, Virginia, 

Odendaalsrus, Allenridge, Hennenman – Sasolburg), two regional towns (Bethlehem and 

Kroonstad), eleven medium-sized towns (Ladybrand, Ficksburg, Senekal, Phuthaditjhaba, 

Reitz, Heilbron, Frankfort, Viljoenskroon, Harrismith, Parys, Bothaville), and 52 small 

towns. 

The Free State Province is one of the provinces with the largest area of agriculturally 

usable land. Suitability for agricultural enterprises vary, however, and are largely 

determined by the natural resource attributes as discussed in the following sections. 

2.1.3 Climate 

Situated almost exactly in the middle of the country, the climate largely reflects middle 

ranges of rainfall, temperatures and evaporation. However, as it spans a bridge between 

the more humid east and arid west, it has elements of both.  
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The Free State is a summer-rainfall region. It usually gets extremely cold during the 

winter, especially towards the eastern mountainous regions where temperatures can drop 

to as low as - 9.5oC. The western and southern parts are semi-arid. About 3.2 million ha is 

cultivated while natural veld and grazing cover 8.7 million ha. The area of land suitable for 

cultivation, which is not presently cultivated, is about 0.23 million ha. About 0.14 million ha 

of this is owned by the State (FSDARD, 2013). The climate significantly determines 

resource use and spatial distribution of production potentials in the province. 

2.1.4 Temperature 

Summer maximum temperatures range from a cool 24 degrees in the north-east to a hot 

32 in the south-west with a 26-30 degree range most widespread in the central areas. 

Winter minimum temperatures are low at -1 to 2 degrees, both in the east and the west, 

resulting in frost occurring between late April in the central areas (middle May in the west) 

and early to late September in all areas. There are no frost-free areas. Winter chilling is 

everywhere sufficient for crops that require it. The cooler east is the area of choice for 

temperate fruit crops but warmth-requiring or early flowering permanent crops (e.g. 

pomegranate, pecan, almond, walnut, persimmon, cactus pear fruit) may succeed in the 

central and western areas in places where soil quality and the availability of water for 

irrigation allows. 

2.1.5 Rainfall 

Based on long-term past records, the rainfall decreases strongly from east to west: the 

median (5 in 10 years) annual rainfall is more than 900 mm on the eastern escarpment 

rim and in the south-western corner less than 350 mm. Most of the central areas receive 

between 450 and 650 mm rain. At more assured levels (6 to 7 in 10 years) the rainfall is 

only about 50 mm less, implying that severe drought may be expected only during 3 in 10 

years or less. The way that climate change might affect this historic pattern is still 

uncertain, however. 

2.1.6 Evaporation 

Annual A-pan evaporation varies from a low of less than 1400 mm in the east to fairly high 

at more than 2200 mm in the south-west. Together with rainfall, it is an indicator of aridity. 

In international terms, all of the province except the north-eastern rim can be classified as 

semi-arid and the south-western corner as arid. 

2.1.7 Topography 

The eastern escarpment rim situated in the Free State is described as low mountains, the 

Vredefort area as parallel hills, the foothills to the escarpment as irregular undulating 

lowlands with hills and strongly undulating irregular land.  
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These grade via slightly irregular undulating plains and occasional hills to slightly 

undulating plains and level plains in the north-west, slightly irregular plains in the south-

west and lowlands with hills towards the Xhariep River. Plains are thus the dominant 

topographic feature of the province. 

2.1.8 Soils 

From a provincial perspective three main soil zones may be recognised. These are (a) 

areas covered by blanket sands in the west, mostly with deep sandy soils; (b) central and 

southern areas without blanket sands, where the solid geology (mudstone, shale, 

sandstone, dolerite) largely determines the soil properties and commonly gives rise to 

clay pan soils, dark clays or shallow soils and (c) areas towards the escarpment edge 

where sandy materials from certain geological formations give rise to predominantly 

moderately deep loamy soils. 

The soils under (a) above have unique properties that render them particularly valuable 

for rain fed arable use. These include the following: good rain water uptake and storage 

due to the deep, sandy or loamy profile; low or no natural acidity in the upper sub soils, 

which together with relatively sandy textures, allow deep root penetration (unless 

compacted) and lastly, the presence of drainage-retarding layers at depth. Due to the 

latter, over large areas in Nala in Lejweleputswa and Moqhaka in Fezile Dabi, water tends 

to accumulate and rise through capillary action to within reach of the crop roots. This 

allows for much higher yields of deep rooted crops than would have been possible by 

means of in-field seasonal rainfall alone. There is a downside, however, to the sandy 

textures in the form of susceptibilities to compaction and wind erosion.  

The soils under (b) above generally have less favourable water absorbing and retaining 

characteristics due to higher clay content and limited rooting depth. Mostly they also have 

a low suitability for irrigation. They tend to support good rangeland, however, and where 

sufficiently deep, offer a niche for strongly rooted crops such as sorghums and sunflower 

that are able to extract water strongly from clayey layers.  

Where slopes occur the moderate to high susceptibility of most of these soils to water 

erosion has to be taken into account. It may be noted that these soils typically occur 

where blanket sands were stripped away by stream action in the recent geological past. 

They thus extend along drainage lines into the west and east. In the latter area they 

commonly constitute highly erodible land facets. 

Extensive areas covered by an association of shallow and clay pan soils occur in Xhariep. 

These support a False Upper Karoo vegetation. It is a degraded veld type dominated by 

Aristida and Eragrostis lehmanniana grasses.  
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It is permanently under threat of invasion by bitterbos (Chrysocoma ciliata) during years of 

drought, particularly in areas where overgrazing by sheep occurs or had occurred.  

The loamy soils under (c) above are arable where sufficiently deep. Areas underlain by 

Molteno sandstone (e.g. the Bethlehem area) are particularly productive. Clay contents 

are slightly higher than in the west. Drainage-retarding deeper layers may occur. These 

are mostly beneficial to field crops but are mostly detrimental to permanent crops as they 

may give rise to excessive seasonal wetness, at least at depth. Clay pan and other wet 

soils are dominant in areas where stream incision took place during recent geological 

times. In those land facets they pose an erosion hazard if cultivated or overgrazed. 

2.1.9 Water resources 

The Free State is one of the provinces where there is appreciable water resource 

development and a high rate of water use. The Free State has 12 state dams and other 

rivers making the province the most water-rich province in South Africa (See Figure 1). 

The province lies between the Vaal River in the north and the Orange River in the south. 

Two main water catchment areas, namely the Vaal and the Orange, are within the Free 

State (FSDARD, 2013). The Free State has, on average, medium-potential arable land.  

 

Figure 1: Water bodies and rivers in the Free State 

Source: ARC (2014) 
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Relevant information on irrigated agriculture in the Free State was extracted from the Free 

State water register compiled by the Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF). 

The table below shows the volume and distribution of registered water use in irrigated 

areas among the districts of the Free State. The water use is differentiated into irrigation 

and livestock watering. The water users are the farmers who are the registered water 

users as at June 2005 in the water schemes in the Free State. About 215,878 farmers are 

registered water users who use a total of 1,169,210.78m3 to irrigate a total area of 

159,639.49ha; 131 farmers are registered to use a total of 323,820m3 for watering 

livestock. Agricultural water use across the province differs from district to district. 

Xhariep district has the highest number of registered users (2,015 farmers) who, on 

average, irrigate 47.45ha with an average registered volume of water of 585 million m3 

per annum. The district also has about 36 registered water users who use 585,800m3 of 

water for livestock activities. Motheo also has a substantial number of water users (1,296 

farmers).  

On average, about 19.68ha is irrigated with 223,39m3 of water per annum. The total area 

irrigated in the Mangaung Metropole is 25,482.24ha. This gives an average of 19.68ha 

per farmer. These farmers use a total of about 289million m3 of water per annum. 

1,402 farmers in Lejweleputswa district irrigate a total of 23,901.18ha with about 

302,686million m3 of water per annum. Another 93 registered water users use a total of 

860,750 m3 per annum for livestock watering. The Fezile Dabi uses a total of 

89,611,800m3 of water to irrigate a total area of 8,480.61ha on an annual basis. Thabo 

Mofutsanyane has the least registered water users; the district comes last in irrigated 

agriculture in the province. Here, 357 farmers use 4 718 4420m3 of water to irrigate 

6,391.27ha on an annual basis. However, only one farmer in the district uses 500,000m3 

per annum for livestock watering (See Table 1). 
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Table 1: Irrigated agriculture in the Free State Province 

Source: Olukunle (2006) 

2.1.10 Overview of the Agriculture sector in the Free State 

2.1.10.1 Background 

Agriculture has always been considered to be the main sector for the Free State 

province’s economy. Despite other sectors having surpassed agriculture in their 

contribution to the province’s economic growth in the recent past, the sector continues to 

dominate the Free State landscape with cultivated land, natural veld and grazing land. 

Natural veld and grazing dominates the agricultural landscape with 87 000 square 

kilometres with cultivated land covering 32 000 square kilometres of the province.  

 

In 2014 agriculture contributed about 4.9% to the economic growth of the Free State, but 

represented about 9.8% of the total agricultural sector in the country. Furthermore, 

agriculture accounts for approximately 90% of land use in the Free State (Global insight 

database, 2016). The province supplies significant proportions of the nation’s sorghum 

(34%), sunflowers (58%), wheat (13%), maize (28%), groundnuts (16%), dry beans 

(48%), wool (23%-2013/14) and potatoes (40%-PotatoSA, 2015). The agricultural sector 

in the Free State can therefore be regarded as one of the most important food hubs in 

South Africa (DAFF 2015/16). 
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However, the province is faced with several challenges in achieving its growth and 

development targets. Foremost amongst these challenges are the social imbalance of the 

province, the unsatisfactory performance of its municipalities, and financial stability. The 

overview provided in this section is important in understanding the interrelation linkages 

between the socio-economic and economic profile needed to ensure economic growth 

and prosperity for the population of the Free State through the development and 

implementation of sustainable agricultural projects. 

Currently the agricultural sector in the province is subjected to severe drought conditions.  

The lowest average annual rainfall in 112 years (since 1904) was recorded in 2015.  This 

has resulted in a dramatic decreased in crops planted (summer crops) in the province as 

well as farmers slaughtering large numbers of animals due to the lack of natural feed in 

the veldt and the increased cost of feeding them.  The availability and cost of feed has 

become a challenge for numerous livestock and other intensive farming enterprises 

dependant on feed of which the main substance is lucern and maize. 

Compounding the scenario livestock farmers find themselves in is, that of continuity, if the 

farmer sells/slaughters his total herd or the majority of the herd, it means he loses 

genetics built over a long period of time and it would take him a minimum of 7 years to 

recover his herd losses.Many farmers in 2015 were not able to source sufficient input 

financing for the current production season, this is due to the liquidation of some input 

financing companies and also the risk is too high to lend money to a cash strapped 

farmer, especially with indications of another interest rate hike. If a farmer does manage 

to get financing from a financing institution, the options to take out multi-peril crop 

insurance is severely limited. This is due to international re-insurance companies pulling 

out of agriculture in South Africa during 2014/15. 

The lower rainfall has resulted in decreased dam levels and a number of irrigation famers 

received lower of no irrigation quotas.  More and more Free State towns became solely 

dependent on the underground water supply.   

The increased withdrawal from this water source has resulted in the drying up of many 

boreholes in various districts across the province that left many farmers in a disparate 

position for survival.  Given the limited capacity of government to support all the farmers 

who needs help, a very challenging period faces farmers. 
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The drought conditions have already resulted in increased food inflation and it is expected 

that it would increase even further.  It is expected that the negative impact of the drought 

will affect all stakeholders in the value chain (including inputs suppliers) and most of all 

would it negatively influence the rural economy. Furthermore will the decreased crop 

production lead to possible job losses thus increase unemployment and an increased 

influx of jobs seekers to urban areas. The lower expected production of maize is expected 

to result in the importation of maize for the first time in many years.  Combined with the 

increased interested rate, increased imports, and lower value of the rand, a very 

challenging period lays ahead for the agricultural sector in the Free State. 

2.1.10.2 Land use patterns 

The eastern part of the Free State province is semi-arid with an annual rainfall of about 

700 mm. In the western part, rainfall intensity is erratic and ranges between 80mm and 

300mm per annum. The different vegetation types in the province support a wide variety 

of livestock production practices. Livestock is therefore an important part of the 

agricultural sector in the Free State. Arable crop production is another important part of 

the agricultural sector of the Free State. However, the type of crops that can be produced 

will depend on the soil potential and rainfall of a specific region. As a result, arable crop 

production is mostly concentrated in the central, eastern and northern parts of the 

province, with the climate and soil quality being favourable for crop production. Moreover, 

the climate and soil in most of these areas of the province support the production of a 

wide variety of crops and commodities. Thus, crop production development initiatives 

should be focused, though not limited to, the central, eastern and northern parts of the 

province, with irrigation schemes in other regions of the province that may also support 

crop production. 

Not only the natural resources themselves but also the state of the natural resources 

needs to be considered when determining the agricultural production capability/potential 

of a specific region. A global concern that will have an effect on the state of the natural 

resources and subsequently the agricultural production capability of the Free State relates 

to climate change. Climate change has the potential to impact on biodiversity, change 

ecosystems; reduce the availability of agricultural land and water for irrigation, etc. 

Therefore, the rate and impact of climate change in a specific region is an important 

consideration when deciding on a specific agricultural initiative, as it will have an impact 

on the success of the initiative and subsequently on development in the province. 

The structural change in South African agriculture is illustrated by the long-term trends in 

the number of farm units and farm sizes. In 1910, there were about 76 622 farm units in 

South Africa with an average size of 1 019 hectares. The number of farm units grew 

steadily to its peak of 119 600 units in 1953 and an average size of 750 hectares.  
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In the second half of the twentieth century the number of farm units more than halved to 

39 966 farm units with an average size of 2 366 ha by 2011 (Liebenberg & Pardey, 2010). 

According to the agricultural census of 2007, there were an estimated 45 750 commercial 

farmers and about 221 341 small-scale farmers in South Africa (that is almost five times 

more small-scale than commercial farmers). The geographical distribution of these farmer 

types is shown in Figure 2. The number of emerging farmers is especially high in the 

provinces where the former homelands were located. As can be seen in the figure, the 

number of commercial and emerging farm units in the Free State was almost equal in 

2007 with 8053 and 8186 respectively. It must, however, be mentioned that these are the 

latest statistics and they were published in 2007, meaning that a lot of structural changes 

could’ve happened in the past seven years. 

 

Figure 2: Commercial and small-scale farmers per province (2007) 

Source: Stats SA (2007) 

 

When examining the patterns of land use by these farming units in the Free State, it can 

be seen that the distribution, as shown in Figure 3, is dependent on the type of resources 

available for agricultural purposes in that region. The figure shows that of the about 13 

million ha of land, only about 17% of it is high potential agricultural land.  
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About 17% is medium-potential agricultural land, 41% is low-potential land while about 

21% is rangeland. In the Free State there is a total area of 232 200 hectares that is 

classified as part of the former homeland areas. Of this area, 81% is classified as grazing 

land which is more suitable for livestock production while 19% is considered as potential 

arable land. 

 

 

Figure 3: Agricultural land use patterns in the Free State Province 

Source: FSDARD, (2014) 

  

As a result of the resources available for agricultural purposes about 57% of the land is 

used for stock farming, including beef and dairy cattle and sheep and 33% is for crop 

production, including maize, sorghum, wheat, groundnuts and sunflowers. Table 2 below 

indicates the main areas of production per product: 



 

33 | P a g e  
 

 

Table 2: Main areas of production per product in the Free State Province 

 
Source: Free State Development Corporation, (2014) 

2.1.10.3 Infrastructure 

Infrastructure contributes significantly to achieving economic growth, which in turn 

contributes towards poverty alleviation and the empowerment of rural communities 

(Kessides, 1993). Kessides is of the view that infrastructure contributes to economic 

growth, both through supply and demand channels by reducing costs of production, 

contributing to the diversification of the economy and providing access to the application 

of modern technology, raising the economic returns on labour. Additionally, infrastructure 

contributes to raising the quality of life by creating amenities, providing access to 

consumption goods (transport and communication) and contributing to macroeconomic 

stability. However, infrastructure does not create economic potential, it only develops an 

enabling environment for economic growth (Kessides, 1993). 

A study done by Hemson, Meyer and Maphunye (2004) also concludes that rural 

infrastructure development is closely related to the empowerment of rural communities 

which has to include the encouragement of civil society, public participation in decision 

making and a democratic culture. Therefore, to ensure efficient and sustainable 

agricultural development efforts in the Free State, adequate and reliable infrastructure is 

needed in order to establish physical links between small-scale farmers and markets 

(Fedderke & Garlick, 2008). An analysis of the current infrastructure and the state thereof 

can help to describe the underlying reasons for the current economic performance of the 

Free State as well as the degree of support it can provide towards agricultural 

development initiatives (i.e. access to inputs, markets, etc.). 
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2.1.10.4 Transport 

The transport sector plays a crucial support role in the provincial economy mainly due to 

the province’s strategic geographic position. Utilization of vast resources from the 

province puts the transport sector in an advantageous position resulting from growth in 

other sectors like agriculture, manufacturing, mining and tourism. In 2014, the sector 

contributed about 10.2% to the province’s economic growth (Global insight database, 

2016).  

Historically, the railway system was used as the primary means for the transportation of 

agricultural products. The railway system is therefore well-developed, connecting all the 

major areas in the Free State (See Figure 4). However, the current functionality of the 

railway system is questionable, since it is not managed properly and is ineffective in 

comparison with the road system, making it a less efficient means of transport. Despite 

being inefficient, the railway system is still used to transport a small percentage of the 

bulky items and commodities such as grains in the province. As a result, a lot of the focus 

has shifted towards roads as the primary means of transportation, which has again 

resulted in the rapid deterioration in the condition of the roads in the province. The derelict 

condition of the roads (especially the secondary roads) prohibits the people residing in the 

rural regions from ensuring easy and frequent access to input and product markets. 

 

Figure4: Road and Railway infrastructure in the Free State Province 

Source: ARC (2014) 
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2.1.10.5 Electricity 

Blackouts experienced in 2008 resulted in substantial losses for all businesses, negatively 

affecting the economic performance of the province. Intensive agricultural activities such 

as dairy parlours, irrigation, broilers, etc. were also affected as a result of the blackouts. 

Due to a significant population growth experienced, the development of electricity 

infrastructure has not been able to keep track of the rapid growth in demand. The lack of 

proper electricity supply to the Free State could have a severe impact on food production 

and food security throughout South Africa. For instance, farmers lack the ability to 

produce perishable products due to a lack of electricity to operate coolers. Other intensive 

agricultural activities such as irrigation are also impossible as there is no access to 

electricity to operate the irrigation systems. Therefore, electricity infrastructure is an 

essential part of development and the successful implementation thereof. The current 

electrification infrastructure in the Free State is illustrated in Figure 5. 

 

Figure 5: Electrification infrastructure in the Free State 

Source: ARC (2014) 
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2.1.11 Socio-economic 

2.1.11.1 Unemployment 

The National Census of 2011 puts the population at approximately 2.745 million in the 

Free State.  The comparable figure of 2.63 million recorded in the 1996 Census suggests 

that the population is relatively stagnant.  The 2011 Census indicates that on the other 

hand, the unemployment rate in the province has been on the increase, from 30% in 1996 

to 32.6% in 2011. According to Global insight database (2016), the unemployment rate for 

the province in 2014 was 30.9% and this figure for the metro and districts are Mangaung 

(23.2%), Lejweleputswa (41.2%), Thabo Mofutsanyane (33.2%), Fezile Dabi (29.8%), and 

Xhariep (24.5%). 

This high rate of unemployment, together with lack of access to basic amenities such as 

clean water, electricity and social facilities, poor road and other socio-economic 

infrastructure and services, low literacy and skills levels, and high rural-urban migration 

rates, among others, pose very serious challenges for, and define the performance 

delivery environment for the Department of Agriculture and Rural Development.  There is 

a need for a community and people-centred development approach in addressing these 

challenges.   

Agriculture is labour intensive and generates about 13 per cent of all formal employment 

opportunities in the Free State.  In many rural areas of the Province, agriculture could be 

considered as the “backbone” of the economy, and the associated forward and backward 

economic linkages significantly contribute to the economy of the Province (UFS, 2012).  

The recent inflation trends have a significant bearing on the profitability of the sector, both 

on and off farm in the value chain. This will manifest in higher food price inflation, affecting 

affordability of food and ultimately household food security.  

2.1.11.2 Key Challenges faced by the FS Agricultural Sector  

The key challenges faced by the agricultural sector in the FS Province have been 

identified through a SWOT analysis (a complete SWOT analysis per area is provided on 

the DVD). A literature survey has also revealed some additional information on the 

challenges that the FS face, some directly linked to the agricultural sector and others 

indirectly. This section attempts to provide an overview of the identified challenges.  

2.1.11.3 Structural factors limiting development  

According to a Premier’s Economic Advisory Council (PEAC) report (undated) three sets 

of structural factors seriously limit the FS’s development momentum, viz. sector-growth 

weaknesses, spatial-development imbalances and a strained development environment. 

This was based on the following:  
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Just as the rapid growth of the gold-mining industry shaped the region’s economic ascent 

during the 1960s, ’70s and ’80s, just so its decline is responsible for the regional 

economy’s stagnation since the early 1990s, with the employment share of gold-mining 

falling from 19,4 to 8,0 per cent over less than a decade. As there are no gold resources 

at comparable or lower costs in the Goldfields area, this decline will continue. 

Unfortunately, other minerals (including diamonds and coal) are unable to compensate for 

that decline.  

In the agricultural sector a number of forces have interacted to reduce employment and 

the value-added of conventional farming in the FS. This has augmented the dampening 

impact which the declining gold industry has had on other sectors of the regional 

economy.  

Geographically the FS’s internal industrial- and services-sector development has suffered 

from the region’s proximity to Gauteng’s economic centre and the drastic decline in the 

province’s rural towns and villages, leaving only Bloemfontein and Sasolburg as relatively 

dynamic larger centres.  

On socio-economic and socio-political levels a relatively sharp polarisation between racial 

and private-public leadership has further hampered steady growth and dynamic 

development efforts, with institutional weaknesses and a particularly high level of 

HIV/AIDS infection constituting additional development impediments. 

The PEAC (undated) was convinced that the FS’s disappointing economic situation is 

neither unique nor irreparable. According to them future growth momentum depend on the 

mobilisation of a new range of growth niches and the reactivation of a number of rural 

places. Rather than waiting for the emergence of a unique new “dominant” sector (like 

gold-mining) or for the Goldfields area to re-ignite, future growth may have to rely on 

several, relatively modest endogenous growth stimuli which interact to raise overall 

growth performance.  

They went on to say that such a turnaround cannot be achieved by the private sector or 

through local efforts alone. Endogenous development initiatives have to be 

complemented by systematic, co-ordinated and sustained public-sector efforts, 

incorporating both the provincial government (and provincial parastatals) and national 

authorities. The crux will be bottom-up entrepreneurial initiatives “matched” and supported 

by co-ordinated local, regional and provincial efforts, facilitated by national and sector-

focused interventions. 
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2.1.11.4 Factors limiting development at municipal level  

Local government is expected to play an active developmental role in order to ensure 

effective local governance that is people-centred, focusing on participation, interests and 

the well-being of the local community. This requirement places significant stress on both 

institutional and human resource capacities. The strengthening of capacities for effective 

local governance need to be holistic in nature, encompassing horizontal capacity building 

to empower local grass-root communities, NGOs, CBOs and the private sector, as well as 

vertical capacity building to strengthen institutions at central and local government levels. 

Holistic capacity building is crucial to enable municipalities to implement economic 

development strategies and interventions. One could safely conclude that LED is not yet 

well embedded in municipal practice, which is shown by the lack of LED units and other 

institutional arrangements. 

2.1.11.5 Factors limiting the competitiveness of the Agricultural sector  

Factors limiting the competitiveness of the agricultural sector in the FS Province include 

the sustainable use and development of the natural resource base, low profitability and 

productivity. These challenges are manifested in a number of issues each providing its 

own challenges:  

Infrastructure backlogs: Insufficient basic on-and-off farm infrastructure in the developing 

agricultural sector and amongst emerging black farmers is largely responsible for the low 

profitability and constrained competitiveness of the sector.  

Constrained competitiveness and low profitability: There is evidence that some sub-

sectors and value-adding activities are uncompetitive in the local and international 

markets. This is caused by high input costs combined with low productivity, sub-optimal 

business strategies, inefficiencies, and unfair trade practices. The lack of competitiveness 

leads to low profitability, which is again responsible for low investment in certain sub-

sectors and are the major challenges that needs to be addressed to put these sectors on 

the high growth path that is envisaged. 

Inadequate human resources and skills base for effective and efficient support, research 

and delivery systems: Key programmes within the Department experience human 

resource capacity and capability constraints. The latter is particularly prevalent amongst 

the specialist and technical advisory components of the Department. As a result the 

Department's current human resource and skills base in these components are not 

aligned with the extensive global and technological changes that have taken place over 

the past decade, which have adverse impact on service delivery. 
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Exploitative and unsustainable use of natural resources: Degradation of the resource 

base is linked to the fundamental poverty trap that many of previously disadvantaged 

people find themselves in. In turn, this is linked to the above problem of inadequate skills 

among both people and advisory staff to develop and implement sustainable practices, 

exacerbated by the state's lack of capacity to enforce legislative requirements in cases of 

non-compliance by the commercial sectors. 

A number of specific challenges have been identified as critical in terms of their potential 

impact on service delivery issues and these include:  

 Alignment of Departmental Service Delivery Mechanism to local government 

institutional arrangements; 

 Alignment of service delivery programmes to support FSGDS and ASGISA 

initiatives;  

 Implementation of the provincial growth and development objectives; 

 Targeted implementation of the AgriBEE Charter;  

 Challenges of land redistribution;  

 Poorly maintained roads;  

 Stock theft;  

 Poor management of commonages;  

 Low productivity in smallholder agriculture; 

 The social and economic impact of HIV/AIDS;  

 High rate of unemployment and poverty in the Province;  

 Barriers to increased production, which include farming knowledge, appropriate 

technology, access to resources, access to markets and business skills;  

 Explore partnerships and co-operation in the agricultural value chain to improve 

market and finance access; 

 Strengthening stakeholder’s relations in the sector;  

 An ever increasing demand for services, particularly from emerging farmers and 

the game industry;  

 Provision of comprehensive agricultural support to beneficiaries of land reform and 

new entrants into farming; and  

 Food security, women and the young farmer programme.  
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2.1.11.6 Specific challenges facing developing farmers  

The FS Province has enormous potential for agricultural development. However, to 

achieve a point of increased agricultural productivity and economic prosperity for 

developing farmers, a number of constraints or problems must be addressed. It is 

possible to categorise these problems into four broad groups, namely:  

 Production limitations;  

 Access to credit;  

 Human capacity; and  

 Market access.  

Agriculture forms a focus area of the Integrated Development Plans of the municipalities 

of the FS Province. It can make major contributions to economic development through the 

production of surplus food and fibre, the utilisation of labour, as well as the creation of 

capital and rural welfare (Norton & Alwang, 1993). It is therefore important to understand 

and analyse the problems according to the broad categories above. 

2.1.11.7 Production limitations  

In respect to production limitations, it has been found that the greatest constraints relate 

to availability and affordability of key inputs such as seed, fertilizers, pest control inputs 

and machinery for cultivation of the field. In the past, farmers in some communal areas 

were assisted by government agencies, which have now been dismantled as part of the 

ongoing agricultural restructuring process.  

Without any prior experience on how to cope with these production eventualities, many 

farmers have had to abandon farming altogether, while others are trapped into 

arrangements that does not benefit them and further reduce the profitability of farming in 

the former homelands. This is what happened, for instance, in the old QwaQwa and 

Thaba Nchu areas over the past years. The land reform program in South Africa also 

settled many black farmers, who do not have the financial means to acquire the 

necessary inputs.  

2.1.11.8 Inputs  

Lack of capital is clearly perceived as the most important constraint. The problems faced 

due to high input costs can be closely related to lack of capital. Acquisition of production 

capital determines the affordability of good inputs, such as high quality seed, more 

effective fertilizers, better pest control, etc. Sustainable production over a period of time 

depends greatly on good usage of inputs. The cost price squeeze has a serious impact on 

emerging farmers, as their input costs often exceed potential income.  
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Farm management becomes more difficult when availability and affordability of inputs 

become of concern. Low quality inputs are then used, which leads to decreased yields 

and productivity. Emerging farmers become more dependent on input suppliers, as their 

demand for improved supplies increase. Small-scale farmers tend to experience more 

difficulty in acquiring new and technologically improved inputs than commercial farmers.  

Small scale farmers cannot register for value added tax because of the size of their 

turnover making their inputs effectively 14% more expensive. They also find it difficult to 

acquire insurance for their crops which increases their risk.  

2.1.11.9 Farming practices  

Farming practices include both cultivation techniques and livestock practices. The 

traditional perception that a larger number of livestock represents greater wealth should 

be discouraged. This belief creates the incentive among farmers to increase livestock 

numbers, disregarding the grazing capacity of natural pastures, accessibility of feed, or 

the quality of animals. The results are over-grazing, lower quality animals and erosion. 

Erosion causes deterioration of the available pastures and arable land. In the long term 

this decreases the productivity of the land in general.  

There is a greater tendency for small-scale farmers to engage intercropping practices. 

Mixed cropping should not always be seen as negative, for it has some advantages. 

Small-scale farmers have low incomes and are normally risk-averse. Intercropping gives a 

more stable cash flow and is a way of diversifying income on scarce land resources. 

Mixed cropping practices also spread labour demand over a longer time period. Pests are 

less of a problem in intercropping systems, thus reducing required input costs.  

The importance of the necessary skills within farming cannot be overestimated. Not only 

technical skills are important, but also managerial and decision-making skills. Every 

commercial farm, independent of its size, has to be profitable. Maximum profit can only be 

realised when the right decisions are made, based on data from efficient record systems. 

This emphasises the importance of both management and record keeping skills.  

To be sufficient in the demanding, highly competitive environment of today’s agricultural 

sector, farmers need improved cultivation methods.  

2.1.11.10 Lack of access to credit  

Production capital is absolutely essential for any farming operation. Because small-scale 

farmers do not have collateral (especially in those cases where they do not own the land), 

they find it difficult to acquire credit. Commercial banks, Land Bank, and other money-

lenders also consider small-scale emerging farmers as high-risk cases.  
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Usually the farming units of small-scale farmers are very small and found in a relatively 

large geographical area with less developed infrastructure, which results in relatively high 

transaction costs. Micro-financing, when available, involves high interest rates, caused by 

high administration costs, opportunity costs and a risk premium. Informal credit providers 

include money-lenders, merchants, pawnbrokers, landlords, family and friends. These 

informal credit sources usually know their clients personally. This lowers the transaction 

costs as the screening of borrowers, to reduce risks, takes less time. Informal money-

lenders also use simple accounting techniques, which lower costs and reduce time 

(Norton & Alwang, 1993).  

Loans to small-scale farmers are small, and the paperwork and time spent evaluating 

potential borrowers, collecting payments and supervising loans in order to reduce risks, 

are costly. Thus, where private and public sources exist, they tend to lend to larger 

farmers, to reduce both administrative costs and the chances of default.  

The South African government regulates interest rates which, in general, are relatively 

high. A lower inflation rate results in the lowering of interest rates. This is beneficial to 

borrowers and lenders, as lower interest rates result in cheaper credit for borrowers and 

less risk for lenders. This could lower the risk premium, which is normally very high for 

small-scale farmers. These farmers are poor and have a low income. One bad year may 

therefore have disastrous consequences. Weather usually affects farmers in the whole 

area. Bad weather can cause a large number of borrowers to default. The opportunity 

cost of investing in small-scale agriculture for the informal sector is relatively low, but quite 

high for the formal sector.  

The fourth cost incorporated into interest rates is monopoly profit. Normally it is expected 

that monopoly profits would be high and that exploitation of borrowers would occur in the 

informal credit sector due to entry barriers to formal credit sources (high risks and 

administration costs). However, rivalry between informal money-lenders ensures that 

monopoly profits stay relatively low. The start-up capital needed is low, as loans are 

relatively small. When monopoly profits rise, new competitors enter the market. The 

competition between lenders would then force the profits down.  

The small size of farming operations, significantly low farm income, lack of knowledge, 

inappropriate technologies and precarious financial positions all contribute to making 

financing more difficult and riskier. Banks need security for their loans. This makes it 

difficult for an individual farmer on communal land or a farmer who rents land, to obtain 

financing. Small-scale farmers with their own private property have security, but it is not 

adequate. The farms are small, with little fixed capital (permanent improvements), thus 

they are only able to acquire small amounts of capital.  
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The communal areas of the FS Province and the resettlement areas around rural towns, 

have low per capita income, high unemployment and high illiteracy. These factors make it 

even less attractive for investors to invest in agriculture and other industries in these 

areas. An investor wants a return on his/her investment and these factors lower returns 

and increases risk. Consequently there is a shortage of effective financial services in 

these areas. This increases the transaction costs, as potential lenders and borrowers 

have to travel long distances to banks. Access to capital is essential. Alternative financing 

methods for small-scale farmers should be investigated.  

2.1.11.11 Human capacity  

Development programmes should not be implemented if they do not improve the human 

capacity of emerging farmers and their collaborators. Without skills, the farmers are 

unable to apply new knowledge to improve farm incomes. Farmers rely on the guidance 

of extension services. However extension services are facing constraints of their own.  

Health is an important issue that should not be neglected when considering human 

capacity. People’s education, that is knowledge and skills, and their health and nutrition, 

referring to strength and vitality, can be correlated directly to their productivity and 

therefore their levels of income.  

2.1.11.12 Extension and support services  

The FSDARD has capacity in terms of the number of extension officers. Extension 

services are, however, seriously constrained by their experience and knowledge base, 

poor infrastructure, inadequate financial resources and weak institutional structures. 

These factors combine to limit the extent to which extension services can support poor 

farmers who are invariably located in the most inaccessible areas. Failure of extension 

support to emerging farmers sets off a chain reaction that destroys the good faith between 

farmers and public institutions.  

Regarding support and services, the emerging agricultural sector cannot rely only on the 

Department. Other institutions should also be involved in programmes for skills training, 

extension services, development of organisations and institutions, financial assistance, 

creation of markets, and other activities.  

2.1.11.13 Youth and women  

Women and youth should be the main targets of agricultural training programmes. The 

youth exhibit a general lack of interest in agriculture. Programmes focussed on the youth 

could create interest in the field, and will increase the human capabilities of agriculture’s 

future role players.  
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Some characteristics of the rural population were identified, which related to the youth 

and their general lack of involvement in agriculture. Firstly, most emerging farmers can be 

categorized as older, with a high level of illiteracy. Financial resources for farming 

operations are mainly acquired from pensions. Households rely heavily on remittances 

and governmental grants; such aid forms a high proportion of household incomes. 

Nutritional levels within the rural community are deteriorating by the day.  

In rural parts of the FS Province, men and women play different roles in agriculture. In 

rural small-scale or subsistence farming operations, men are involved in producing cash 

crops and animals, whereas women’s responsibility is limited to the household’s food 

crops.  

Further education for women holds significant advantages. Higher levels of education for 

women has proven to be related to lower birth rates, which has linked effects on national 

food security, employment figures, and general economic wellbeing.  

It should therefore be a priority to train the youth and women, to increase literacy and to 

create an incentive to become involved in farming operations. If children are properly 

schooled and skilled, the adults of the future will be literate. This will also lead to more 

people being employed in other sectors of the economy.  

2.1.11.14 Institutions  

Cooperation between institutions is necessary to ensure the full development and 

utilisation of human and other resources for development. Institutional arrangements that 

are being considered include government structures, education, training and extension 

services, traditional and modern agriculture, research, culture, religion, lobby groups and 

vested interests, politics, ideology, information, markets, policies etc.  

It is imperative to recognize the need for aligning the development strategy in agriculture 

with institutional support structures. A perspective for rethinking traditional institutional 

systems and the need for greater integration across the sectorial value chain including 

non-arable farming activities must be developed.  

2.1.11.15 Market access  

In the publications of the BATAT programme of the DoA (2004), certain barriers with 

regard to market access by small-scale farmers are mentioned. The most important 

obstacles applicable to the FS Province are the poor conditions of roads that serve 

communities in the rural areas, inadequate information about supplies and prices, lack of 

transport, storage problems, lack of extension advice, and lack of basic management and 

business skills.  
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One of the greatest difficulties small-scale farmers experience is access to markets for 

their products. According to Lyne (1996), smallholder farmers in similar circumstances 

across the country are further constrained by limited access to other factors of production, 

including credit facilities and information. As Ortmann and Machethe (2003) note, even 

with small farm sizes, agricultural productivity can be improved if adequate access to 

support services and markets is guaranteed.  

Many farmers find it difficult to transport their products to markets, due to a lack of 

transportation. When transportation costs are high, farmers are unable to get their fresh 

produce to the market; they resort to farm-gate sales, which reduce their margins. 

Transport problems are experienced mostly in communal areas in the old homeland 

areas. This is due to the fact that the major market place (Fresh Produce Markets) are 

situated Bloemfontein or in the Gauteng Province, and other, smaller markets exist only in 

the more urbanised areas and towns.  

Many areas lack adequate market structures or sufficient market facilities. Marketing 

facilities should be created and revitalised where the need exists. Extension officers must 

help farmers identify potential markets and encourage farmers to be more market-

orientated in their production decisions. Agricultural production must be guided by market 

demand. This means that markets must be identified before production commences. To 

do this, relevant and accurate market information becomes essential. Farmers must 

obtain product-specific information for their marketing and production decisions. Products 

that can be produced at optimal level and for which potential markets exist, should be 

identified.  

Small-scale emerging farmers do not have the capacity to compete with large, 

commercial farmers. Well-established commercial farmers seldom experience problems 

with market access because they have already acquired, or have access to the required 

means of transportation, storage facilities, information and marketing places. A strategic 

plan should be compiled to incorporate small, emerging farmers in the system, and to 

offer market accessibility at such a level that they have a fair chance of competing in the 

bigger and well developed markets.  
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2.2 Service Delivery Improvement Plan 

The department has completed a service delivery improvement plan. The tables below highlight the 

service delivery plan and the achievements to date. 

 

Main services and standards 

Main 

services 

Beneficiaries Current/actual  standard of 

service 

Desired standard of service Actual achievement 

Veterinary 

diagnostic 

services 

 

Producers; 

Processors; & 

Trader 

152 864 tests performed [on 

Samples submitted using basic 

diagnostic tests as prescribed 

for this purpose e.g. Serology 

for Brucellosis/ 

Bacteriology/Parasitology/Post 

Mortem etc. (Most of the 

samples tested for Bovine 

Brucellosis, which is a 

Controlled Disease that 

threatens production and 

human health)]. 

 

200 000 tests performed [on 

Samples submitted using basic 

diagnostic tests as prescribed 

for this purpose e.g. Serology 

for Brucellosis/ 

Bacteriology/Parasitology/Post 

Mortem etc. (Most of the 

samples tested for Bovine 

Brucellosis, which is a 

Controlled Disease that 

threatens production and 

human health)]. 

Expand areas of service to 

include tests for Non-

Controlled Diseases. 

Conduct Needs Analysis 

Survey 

152 864 tests performed [on 

Samples submitted using 

basic diagnostic tests as 

prescribed for this purpose 

e.g. Serology for Brucellosis/ 

Bacteriology/Parasitology/Post 

Mortem etc. (Most of the 

samples tested for Bovine 

Brucellosis, which is a 

Controlled Disease that 

threatens production and 

human health)]. 

Veterinary 

diagnostic 

services 

 

Producers; 

Processors; & 

Traders 

Samples are tested as 

prescribed by the Animal 

Diseases Act. 

The laboratories tests are 

performed in accordance with 

the ISO 17025 standards. 

Continued performance of 

laboratory requires SANAS 

accreditation as new 

requirement 

Prepare the labs for SANAS 

accreditation 

Kroonstad Vet Lab – in 

process to clear non 

compliances. 

BFN Vet Lab – In preparation 

phase for SANAS 

assessment. 

 Producers; 

Processors; & 

Traders 

Clients are consulted by direct 

client contact, meetings, 

telephone, e-mails. 

Laboratory also communicates 

test reports by post or faxes 

Consultation via meetings, 

direct client contact, telephone, 

e-mails. Laboratory also 

communicates test reports via 

post or faxes 

Telephone and emails were 

fixed in October. 

 

 

 



 

47 | P a g e  
 

 

  Clients can access services 

through direct walk-

ins/Courier/Post Office 

 

Access through 

Walk -Ins/ 

Speed service:  

Dan Pienaar Drive 36A, 

Bloemfontein or 

Brandt Street Extension, 

Kroonstad 

Telephone: 

O51-4363677 Bloemfontein 

056-2122671 Kroonstad 

Status Quo 

  80% of samples are tested 

within 2 working days after 

delivery thereof. 

Client satisfaction survey done 

annually 

95% of samples are tested 

within 2 working days after 

delivery thereof and results 

transmitted back to clients. 

Client satisfaction survey done 

per semester 

80% of samples are tested 

within 2 working days after 

delivery thereof. 

Client satisfaction survey done 

annually 

  Clients are reported to on each 

case/sample submitted by 

post/e-mails/faxes. 

Tariff list is available at 

reception and registration 

Laboratory worksheets for tests 

done on samples,  are available 

in the Laboratory 

Clients are reported to on each 

sample/case submitted by 

post/fax/e-mail 

Tariff list is available at 

reception and registration 

Laboratory worksheets for  tests 

done on samples, are available 

in the Laboratory 

Status Quo 

  Updated contact information is 

available in the national website 

Contact information is available 

on the website 

Business Cards are available 

No Business cards for 

Kroonstad Vet Lab yet. 

 

2.3 Organisational environment  

The Department has refined its approved organisation and post establishment to align it with its 
strategic priorities to support the National Development Plan priorities and other national and 
provincial strategic documents. This was also meant to address the capacity gaps as identified 
from the departmental Human Resource Plan as well as addressing the repositioning of the Glen 
College of Agriculture as part of the national plan of repositioning the Colleges of Agriculture to 
an Agricultural Training Institute. 

The Department also prioritise its Veterinary Services to ensure that it fully addresses the 
challenges as identified at national and provincial levels in order to maintain its disease free 
status of the province but also to ensure that the two Veterinary Laboratories maintain and 
improves their accreditation standards. 
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Free State Province wishes to maintain its status of being the food basket of the country and as 
the results the department has prioritised the filling of critical positions to ensure that such status 
is maintained.   

The province is also mainly rural and the Department has been mandated to ensure the 
coordination and facilitation of rural development in the province. The department is mainly 
involved in coordination and facilitation processes for rural development in the province in 
collaboration with other role players in the province. The Department currently has 1119 posts on 
its structure and it always ensures that it reduces its vacancy rate by filling all funded vacant 
posts. 

All vacant unfunded posts were abolished from the establishment. All vacant posts at Senior 
Management Service level will be filled with urgency. The Department has adopted a 
Decentralised Service Delivery Model with its Head Quarters dealing with strategic and policy 
direction while delivery is done at the district level. Information technology has been elevated to a 
directorate level in order to ensure the provisioning of high-level information technology services.  

The Department continues to strengthen the capacity of Extensive Advisory Services through the 
National Programme of Extension Recovery. This capacity building will improve service delivery 
to the farming and rural communities of the Free State. The Department has introduced an 
electronic Monitoring and Evaluation System known as In-Form Systems which monitors service 
delivery on monthly basis. 

This system ensures tracking of service delivery and enables the Department to identify service 
delivery gaps on time thus enabling it to improve on its Service Delivery Improvement Plan. The 
monitoring and evaluation of service is evidence based according to Annexure E of the Annual 
Performance Plan which defines the evidence required to determine its admissibility as per the 
set indicator. The M&E component holds regular meetings with various directorates to discuss 
performance reports. 

All approved policies and plans for Financial Management Services as well as Corporate 
Services have been communicated to all stakeholders and are implemented to ensure that 
effective control measures are put in place in a drive towards a clean audit. The Department 
participate fully on national performance assessment processes through the Management 
Performance Assessment Tool and it has improved in time, in its performance assessments 
since the inception of this assessment tool. 

The Employee Labour Relations component focus mainly on promoting sound labour relations 
while the Employee Health and Wellness component will ensure a healthy and effective 
workforce. 
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2.4 Key policy developments and legislative changes 

Notwithstanding the measure of the departments of Agriculture and Rural Development, 

no major policy shift or new mandate evolved outside the initial missions of the two 

departments. 

3. STRATEGIC OUTCOME ORIENTED GOALS 

STRATEGIC 

GOALS 

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES 
PROGRAMME INDICATORS 

2017/18 

ANNUAL 

TARGET 

Strategic Goal: 1 

Effective and 

efficient strategic 

leadership, 

governance and 

administration 

1.1 To ensure effective 

leadership, good 

governance and control 

environment through 

achievement of 80% on 

MPAT assessment by 

2020 

Number of strategic documents approved (P) 
3 

Number of Non-Financial Performance progress 
reports submitted and reviewed in Executive 
Management Meetings (P) 

22 

Number of integrated strategic Communication 

Strategies reviewed and approved (P) 1 

Number of Human Resource Plans approved (P) 
1 

Number of integrated Auxiliary Services Plans 
reviewed and approved (P) 1 

Number of integrated ICT strategies developed and 
implemented (P) 1 

Number of Key Control MATRIX reports submitted 
(P) 18 
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STRATEGIC 

GOALS 

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES 
PROGRAMME INDICATORS 

2017/18 

ANNUAL 

TARGET 

Strategic Goal: 2 

Sustainable use of 

natural resources 

2.1 To promote the 

sustainable use and 

management of natural 

resources by protecting 

36 220ha’s of 

agricultural land 

through Engineering 

Services, Land Care, 

Soil Conservation, Land 

Use Management and 

Disaster Risk 

Management by 2020 

Number of agricultural infrastructure established (T) 27 

Number of hectares protected / rehabilitated to 

improve agricultural production (T) 
7 500 

Number of Green  jobs created (T) 322 

Number of Full Time Equivalents (FTE’s) created 

through Land Care green jobs (P) 
80 

Number of hectares of agricultural land protected 

through guiding subdivision / rezoning / change of 

agricultural land use (T) 

200 

Number of disaster risk reduction   programmes 

managed (T) 
1 

Number of disaster relieve schemes managed (T) 1 

Strategic Goal: 3 

Enabling 

environment for 

food security and 

sector 

transformation 

3.1 To provide 

comprehensive 

agricultural support 

services to 14 700 

producers by 2020 

 

Number of smallholder producers receiving support 

(T) 
120 

Number of commercial producers supported (P) 17 

Number of fish farms established (P) 4 

Number of jobs created through the implementation 

of projects (P) 
309 

Number of permanent jobs created (P) 140 

Number of on / off farm Agro-processing Initiative 

Supported (P) 
2 

Number of producers supported with agricultural 

advice (T) 
14 000 

Number of commodities supported (P) 13 

 

 

 

 



 

51 | P a g e  
 

 

STRATEGIC 

GOALS 

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES 
PROGRAMME INDICATORS 

2017/18 

ANNUAL 

TARGET 

 3.2 To ensure 

household food and 

nutrition security to 25 

625 households by 

2020 

 

Number of households benefiting from agricultural 

food security initiatives (T) 
12 520 

Number of gardens established at institutions (P) 250 

Number of hectares cultivated for food production in 

communal, commonage areas and land reform 

projects (T) 

3 775 

Number of people benefitting from food security and 

nutrition initiatives (P) 
40 062 

3.3 To enhance 

agricultural education 

and training capacity 

BY 2020 

Number of agricultural Higher Education and 

Training graduates produced (T) 
50 

Number of HEQC maintenance reports to the 

college advisory Board developed to retain 

accreditation status (P) 

    1 

Number of participants trained in agricultural skills 

development programmes [accredited and non-

accredited skills programmes, RPL and Learnership 

programs] (T) 

1 350 

Number of projects supported through mentorship 

(P) 
31 

Strategic Goal: 4 

Enhanced 

production, 

employment and 

economic growth in 

the sector 

4.1 To ensure healthy 

animals, food safety, 

and access to export 

markets through 

provision of veterinary 

services to clients by 

2020. 

Number of vets deployed to do compulsory 

community service (P) 

8 

Number of epidemiological units visited for 

veterinary intervention (T)  

3 000 

Number of clients serviced for animals and animal 

products export (T) 

70 

Percentage level of abattoir compliance to meat 

safety legislation (T) 

65% 

Number of tests performed the quality of which 

meets the ISO 17025 standard and OIE 

requirements (T) 

          100 000 
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STRATEGIC 

GOALS 

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES 
PROGRAMME INDICATORS 

2017/18 

ANNUAL 

TARGET 

 4.2 To provide Agri-

business development 

support as well as 

macroeconomic and 

statistical information to 

2 008 clients by 2020 

Number of clients who have benefitted from 

agricultural economic advice provided (T) 
400 

Number of Agri-Businesses supported with 

agricultural economic services to access markets 

(T) 

13 

Number of smallholder producers empowered to 

export, as part of the international market access 

initiatives (P) 

16 

Number of agricultural economic information 
responses provided (T) 

20 

Number of economic reports compiled (T) 4 

4.3 To improve the 

agricultural production 

through conducting, 

facilitating and 

coordinating 16 medium 

to long-term research 

and technology 

development projects 

by 2020 

Number of research and technology development 

projects implemented to improve agricultural 

production (T) 

17 

4.4 To disseminate 

information on research 

and technology 

developed to clients, 

peers and scientific 

communities through 8 

research presentations 

and 5 improvement 

schemes by 2020 

Number of research presentations made nationally 

or internationally (T) 
4 

Number of research infrastructure managed (T) 1 

Number of scientific research papers published 

nationally or internationally (T) 
5 

5. Strategic Goal: 

5 

Comprehensive 

Rural Development 

5.1 To plan, facilitate 

and coordinate the 

development of rural 

enterprises and 

industries through 

establishment of  Agri-

villages by 2020 

Number of models  developed and reviewed to 

guide the development of rural areas in the Free 

State (P) 

2 
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STRATEGIC 

GOALS 

STRATEGIC 

OBJECTIVES 
PROGRAMME INDICATORS 

2017/18 

ANNUAL 

TARGET 

 5.2 To coordinate social 

facilitation programmes 

and projects by 2020 

Number of reports on integrated implementation of 
Comprehensive Rural Development Programme 
(CRDP) in line with Outcome 7 (P) 

4 

Number of databases generated and maintained on 
farms, state owned land and rural communities  
available for sustainable rural development (P) 

1 

 

 

4. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME 

4.1 Programme 1: ADMINISTRATION 

Programme Purpose  

The purpose of the programme is to provide strategic direction and leadership within the 

Department of Agriculture and Rural Development over the next five years. 

Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: ADMINISTRATION 

Strategic 

objectives 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To ensure 

effective 

leadership, good 

governance and 

control 

environment 

through 

achievement of 

80% on MPAT 

assessment by 

2020 

79% 80% 57% 23% 

Failure to table annual 

report and the audit 

outcome 
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Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

Number of 

strategic 

documents 

approved  

2 3 3 0 Achieved 

Number of Non-
Financial 
Performance 
progress reports 
submitted and 
reviewed in 
Executive 
Management 
Meetings  

17 22 17 -5 

Not Achieved. Under 

performance due to 

lack of mainstreaming 

reports from special 

programmes. 

Number of 

integrated 

Strategic 

Communication 

Strategies 

reviewed and 

approved 

1 1 1 0 Achieved 

Number of 
Human 
Resource Plans 
approved 

1 1 1 0 Achieved 

Number of 
integrated 
Auxiliary 
Services Plans 
reviewed and 
approved 

1 1 1 0 Achieved 

Number of 
integrated ICT 
strategies 
developed and 
implemented 

1 1 1 0 Achieved 

Number of Key 
Control MATRIX 
reports 
submitted 

18 18 18 0 Achieved 
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Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year  

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

2017/2018 2016/2017 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Office of the MEC 6 934 6 930 4 6 766 6 753 13 

Senior Management 35 660 35 740 (80) 31 504 31 393 111 

Corporate Services 111 480 101 845 9 635 87 847 87 446 401 

Financial 
Management 

27 250 27 283 (33) 27 291 27 125 166 

Communication 
Services 

6 218            6 209 9 6 551 6 038 513 

Total 187 542 178 007 9 535 159 959 158 755 1 204 

 

4.2 Programme 2: SUSTAINABLE RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

Programme Purpose  

The purpose of this programme is to ensure implementation of Sustainable Resource 

Management by providing Engineering Services, Soil Conservation, Land Care, Land Use 

Management Services and Disaster Risk Management Support. 

Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: Sustainable Resource Management 

Strategic objectives 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual Achievement 

for 2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To promote the 

sustainable use and 

management of natural 

resources by protecting 

36 220ha’s of agricultural 

land through Engineering 

Services, Land Care, 

Land Use Management 

and Disaster Risk 

Management by 2020. 

10 645 7 500 7 637 137  Achieved 

* The Strategic Objective 2.1 is measured using targets for indicator 2.1.2 below. 
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Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: Sustainable Resource Management 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/20176 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on deviations 

Number of 

agricultural 

infrastructure 

established  

25 27 34 7 

Achieved. 

Overachievement due 

to more projects 

completed dealing with 

roll over incomplete 

projects from the 

previous financial year. 

Number of 

hectares 

protected / 

rehabilitated to 

improve 

agricultural 

production  

10 645 7 500 7 637 137 Achieved. 

Number of 

Green  jobs 

created 

389 322 377 55 

Achieved. 

Overachievement due 

to the size of the 

working teams for 

eradication of invader 

plants that were 

increased. 

Number of Full 

Time 

Equivalents 

(FTE’s) created 

through Land 

Care green jobs 

177 80 104 24 

Achieved. 

Overachievement due 

to the size of the 

working teams for 

eradication of invader 

plants that were 

increased. 

Number of 

hectares of 

agricultural land 

protected 

through guiding 

subdivision / 

rezoning / 

change of 

agricultural land 

use  

1 696 200 0 -200 

Not achieved. Under 

achievement due to the 

lack of confirmation 

from Department of 

Agriculture, Forestry 

and Fisheries (DAFF) 

that recommendations 

of 3560 hectares from 

the FS Province was 

supported. 
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Programme / Sub-programme: Sustainable Resource Management 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/20176 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

Number of 

disaster risk 

reduction   

programmes 

managed  

1 1 1 1 Achieved. 

Number of 

disaster relief 

schemes 

managed 
0 1 0 -1 

Not achieved. 

Underachievement 

due to no 

tenderer/supplier 

qualifying for the 

“Combatting of the 

Fall Army Worms and 

Red Locusts” Project. 

 

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

DAFF was requested to speed up their approvals of the number of hectares of agricultural 

land protected through guiding subdivision / rezoning / change of agricultural land use as 

recommended by the Free State Province. 

The tender for the Combatting of Fall Army Worms and Red Locusts Project will be re-

advertised as a split tender to enable tenderers to meet the criteria for qualification. No 

infestations that needed combatting however occurred in this financial year. 

Fall Army Worm moth traps has been set strategically on various farms bordering the 

Free State Province to support detection and guide pro-active prevention for support as 

an Early Warning Strategy.  

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year 
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 Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Engineering 
Services 

11 707 11 703 4 10 839 10 834 5  

Land Care 19 475 19 470 5 19 052 19 049 3 

Land Use 
Management 

752 747 5 679 672 7 

Disaster Risk 
Management 

2 144 2 140 4 3 125 3 121 4 

Total 34 078 34 060 18 33 695 33 676 19 

 

4.3 Programme 3: FARMER SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT 

Programme Purpose  

To provide support to all farmers through agricultural development programmes. 
 

Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: Farmer Support and Development 

Strategic 

objectives 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To provide 

comprehensive 

agricultural 

support services 

to 14 700 

producers by 

2020 

12 699 14 000 6 093 -7 097 

Not achieved. New 
method of calculation 
introduced which 
disqualified a number 
of evidences 

To ensure 

household food 

and nutrition 

security to 25 

625 households 

by 2020 

8 576 12 520 14 025 1 505 

Achieved. The over 
achievement is a 
result of roll over of 
production inputs 
received from 
previous financial 
year.  

* The Strategic Objective 3.1 is measured using targets for indicator 3.1.8 below. 

# The Strategic Objective 3.2 is measured using targets for indicator 3.2.1 below. 
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Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: Farmer Support and Development 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on deviations 

Number of 

smallholder 

producers 

receiving support  

852 120 141 21 

Achieved. Over 

achievement due to 

carry over projects 

from the previous 

financial year. 

Number of 

commercial 

producers 

supported  

29 17 27 10 

Achieved. Over 

achievement due to 

carry over projects 

from the previous 

financial year. 

Number of fish 

farms established  
0 4 0 -4 

Not achieved. Delay in 

project implementation 

due to EIA implications 

Number of jobs 

created through 

the 

implementation of 

projects  

329 309 292 -17 

Not achieved. Affected 

by project delays in 

implementation at 

Thaba Nchu Irrigation, 

Parys abattoir and 

Fezile Dabi fish project 

Number of 

permanent jobs 

created  
49 140 33 -107 

Not achieved. Affected 

by project delays in 

implementation at 

Thaba Nchu Irrigation, 

Parys abattoir and 

Fezile Dabi fish project 

Number of on / off 

farm Agro-

processing 

Initiative 

Supported  

5 2 0 -2 

Not achieved. Delay in 

project implementation 

due to EIA implications 

for the Parys abattoir, 

and also finalization of 

the SEZ protocol 

agreements for the 

Thabo Mofutsanyana 

abattoir. 
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Programme / Sub-programme: Farmer Support and Development 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on deviations 

Number of 

producers 

supported with 

agricultural advice  

12 699 14 000 6 903 -7 097 

Not achieved. New 

method of calculation 

introduced which 

disqualified a number 

of evidences 

Number of 

commodities 

supported  
8 13 10 -3 

Not achieved. Three 

commodities under 

implementation (Fish, 

Poultry and dairy) 

Number of 

households 

benefiting from 

agricultural food 

security initiatives  

8 576 12 520 14 025 1 505 

Achieved. The over 

achievement is a result 

of roll over of 

production inputs 

received from previous 

financial year.  

Number of 

gardens 

established at 

institutions  

339 250 393 143 

Achieved. The over 

achievement is a result 

of roll over of 

production inputs 

received from previous 

financial year.  

Number of 

hectares 

cultivated for food 

production in 

communal, 

commonage 

areas and land 

reform projects  

7 336 3 775 3 862 87 Achieved 

Number of people 

benefitting from 

food security and 

nutrition initiatives  

27 442 40 062 44 905 4 843 

Achieved. The over 

achievement is a result 

of roll over of 

production inputs 

received from previous 

financial year. 
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Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

To ensure approval of EIAs and effect changes in the process of acquiring service 
providers and implementers.   
 

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year 

Linking performance with budgets 

 

Sub-programme expenditure 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Farmer 
Settlement 

170 937 148 342 22 595 177 126 174 202 2 924 

Extension and 
Advisory Services 

216 496 179 522 36 974 218 521 210 515 8 006 

Food Security 1 435 1 435 1 925 919 6 

Total 388 868 329 298 59 570 396 572 385 636 10 936 

  

4.4 Programme 4: VETERINARY SERVICES 

Program purpose 

The purpose is to provide veterinary services through management of risks associated 

with animal diseases, promote food safety and create an enabling environment for 

sustainable animal production. 
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Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: Veterinary Services 

Strategic objectives Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned 

Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target 

to Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To ensure healthy 

animals, food safety, 

and access to export 

markets through 

provision of veterinary 

services to clients by 

2020. 
221 636 100 000 189 885 89 885 

Achieved. Over 
achievement due to 
the increased drive in 
the fight against 
controlled diseases, 
with Brucellosis 
control having 
contributed 
immensely to more 
samples being 
submitted to the two 
provincial labs for 
diagnosis. 

* The Strategic Objective 4.1 is measured using targets for indicator 4.1.5 below. 

  

Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: Veterinary Services 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation 

from planned 

target to 

Actual 

Achievement 

for 2017/2018 

Comment on deviations 

Number of vets 

deployed to do 

compulsory 

community 

service  

8 8 10 2 

Achieved. More 

veterinarians were 

deployed to enhance the 

primary health care 

programme. 

Number of 

epidemiological 

units visited for 

veterinary 

intervention  

0 3 000 1 610 -1 390 

Not achieved. Each unit 

visited was only counted 

once. Re-visits have not 

contributed to the figure. 

Number of 

clients serviced 

for animals and 

animal products 

export  

182 70 189 119 

Achieved due to a 

higher demand for 

export certification. With 

exports mainly to Africa, 

Europe and USA. 
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Programme / Sub-programme: Veterinary Services 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation 

from planned 

target to 

Actual 

Achievement 

for 2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

Percentage level 

of abattoir 

compliance to 

meat safety 

legislation  

77% 65% 78% 13% 

Achieved. Over 

achievement due 

adherence and 

compliance to 

National standards. 

Number of tests 

performed the 

quality of which 

meets the ISO 

17025 standard 

and OIE 

requirements  
221 636 100 000 189 885 89 885 

Achieved. Over 
achievement due to 
the increased drive in 
the fight against 
controlled diseases, 
with Brucellosis 
control having 
contributed 
immensely to more 
samples being 
submitted to the two 
provincial labs for 
diagnosis. 

 

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

To obtain clarity on indicator description  
 

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year  

 

Linking performance with budgets 

 
Sub-programme expenditure 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Animal Health 2 631 42 595 36 41 281 41 261 20 

Veterinary Public 
Health 

5 641 5 634 7 4 776 4 763 13 

Veterinary 
Laboratory 
Services 

10 148 10 135 13 9 234 9 023 211 

Export Control 607 605 2 577 574 3 

Total 59 027 58 969 58 55 868 55 621 247 
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4.5 Programme 5: RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

Programme Purpose  

The purpose of the program is to render needs based research, development and 

technology transfer services.  

Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: Research and Technology Development Services 

Strategic objectives 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To improve the 

agricultural 

production through 

conducting, 

facilitating and 

coordinating 16 

medium to long-term 

research and 

technology 

development projects 

by 2020 

13 17 17 0 Achieved 

To disseminate 

information on 

research and 

technology 

developed to clients, 

peers and scientific 

communities through 

15 research 

presentations and 8 

improvement 

schemes by 2020 

7 4   

Not achieved. 
Submissions were 
made for the other 
4 papers but the 
actual publication 
is out of the control 
of this Department 
and publication did 
not yet happen. 
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Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: Research and Technology Development Services 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

Number of 

research and 

technology 

development 

projects 

implemented to 

improve agricultural 

production  

13 17 17 0 Achieved 

Number of 

research 

presentations made 

nationally or 

internationally  

6 4 7 3 

Achieved. The 
provincial research 
colloquium organizes 
from 8-10 October 
2017 which was not 
planned for and the 
four presentation 
were presented there. 

Number of 
research 
infrastructure 
managed  

1 1 1 0 Achieved 

Number of scientific 
papers published 
nationally or 
internationally  

1 5 1 -4 

Not achieved. 
Submissions were 
made for the other 4 
papers but the actual 
publication is out of 
the control of this 
Department and 
publication did not yet 
happen. 
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Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

None  

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Research 29 025 29 203 (178) 25 954 25 925 29 

Infrastructure 
Support Services 

25 248 23 265 1 983 
 

29 928 
 

29 890 
 

38 

Total 54 273 52 468 1 805 55 882 55 815 67 

  

4.6 Programme 6: AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS 

Programme Purpose  

To provide timely and relevant agricultural economic services to the sector in support of 

sustainable agricultural and agri-business development to increase economic growth. 
 

Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: Agricultural Economics 

Strategic objectives 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned 

Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To provide Agri-

business 

development 

support as well as 

macroeconomic 

and statistical 

information to 2 

008 clients by 2020 

467 400 398 -2 Achieved 
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Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: Agricultural Economics 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

Number of 

clients who have 

benefitted from 

agricultural 

economic advice 

provided  

467 400 398 -2 Achieved. 

Number of Agri-

Businesses 

supported with 

agricultural 

economic 

services to 

access markets  

14 13 15 2 

Achieved. Market 
linkage is request 
based. Production 
fluctuates on 
seasonal basis. 
Therefore, sometimes 
over/under 
achievement is 
experienced 
depending on 
production. 

Number of 

smallholder 

producers 

empowered to 

export, as part of 

the international 

market access 

initiatives  

10 16 15 -1 

Not achieved. One 
producer have not yet 
fully complied with the 
export requirements. 

Number of 
agricultural 
economic 
information 
responses 
provided  

22 20 22 2 

Achieved. 

• Increased personnel 
in the Programme to 
address the issue; 

• Procurement of info 
from AMT is support 
client faster. 

Number of 
economic 
reports compiled  

4 4 4 0 Achieved 
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Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

None  

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year. 

Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Agric Business 
Development and 
Support 

11 073 11 070 3 9 487 9 477 10 

Macro Economics 
and Statistics 

624 622 2 574 573 1 

Total 11 697 11 692 5 10 061 10 050 11 

  

4.7 Programme 7: STRUCTURED AGRICULTUREAL EDUCATION AND TRAINING 

Programme Purpose  

To facilitate and provide structured agricultural education and training in line with the 

Agricultural Education and Training Strategy to all participants in the agricultural sector in 

order to establish a knowledgeable, prosperous and competitive sector. 

 

Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: Structured Agriculture Education and Training 

Strategic 

objectives 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To enhance 

agricultural 

education and 

training capacity 

by 2020 

35 50 36 -14 
Not Achieved Due to 
outstanding modules. 
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Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: Structured Agriculture Education and Training 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

Number of 

agricultural 

Higher 

Education and 

Training 

graduates 

produced  

35 50 36 -14 
Not Achieved Due to 
outstanding modules. 

Number of 

HEQC 

maintenance 

reports to the 

college advisory 

board developed 

to retain 

accreditation 

status 

1 1 1 0 Achieved 

Number of 

participants 

trained in 

agricultural skills 

development 

programmes  

1 938 1 350 2 052 702 

Achieved. In addition 
to the planned training 
several urgent 
requests was 
received for training to 
projects on conflict 
resolution and 
constitution 
development 

Number of 

projects 

supported 

through 

mentorship  

28 31 14 -17 

Not Achieved. Service 
level agreements 
were only adhered at 
to these projects 
during Q4. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

70 | P a g e  
 

 

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

None  

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year. 

Linking performance with budgets 

 
Sub-programme expenditure 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Tertiary Education 20 263 20 036 227 14 669 14 650 19  

Further Education 
and Training(FET) 

5 860 5 802 58 5 881 5 761 120 

Total 26 123 25 838 285 20 550 20 411 139 

  

4.8 Programme 8: RURAL DEVELOPMENT COORDINATION 

Programme Purpose  

The purpose of this programme is to plan, facilitate development and social cohesion 

through participatory approaches in partnership with all stakeholders 

Strategic objectives:   

Programme Name: Rural Development Coordination 

Strategic objectives Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target 

to Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

To plan, facilitate 

and coordinate the 

development of 

rural enterprises 

and industries 

through 

establishment of 

five Agri-Villages by 

2020  

1 2 0 -2 

Not Achieved. The 

models developed 

required alignment 

with National 

directives. 

To coordinate 
Social Facilitation 
programmes and 
projects by 2020  

6 5 5 0 Achieved 



 

71 | P a g e  
 

 

Performance indicators 

Programme / Sub-programme: Rural Development Coordination 

 

Performance 

Indicator 

Actual 

Achievement 

2016/2017 

Planned Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

Achievement 

2017/2018 

Deviation from 

planned target to 

Actual 

Achievement for 

2017/2018 

Comment on 

deviations 

Number of 

models reviewed 

to guide the 

development of 

rural areas in the 

Free State 

1 2 0 -2 

Not Achieved. The 

models developed 

required alignment 

with National 

directives. 

Number of 
reports on 
integrated 
implementation 
of 
Comprehensive 
Rural 
Development 
Programme 
(CRDP) in line 
with Outcome 7 

5 4 4 0 Achieved 

Number of 
databases 
maintained on 
farms, state 
owned land and 
rural 
communities 
available for 
sustainable rural 
development 

1 1 1 0 Achieved 

 

 

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance 

Restructure and reposition the programme in line with the new mandates  

Changes to planned targets 

No changes were made to targets during this financial year. 
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Linking performance with budgets 

Sub-programme expenditure 

 2017/2018 2016/2017 

Sub- Programme 
Name 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

Final 
Appropriation 

Actual 
Expenditure 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 

Development 
Planning & 
Reporting 

2 975 2 971 4 6 345 6 307 38 

Social Facilitation 5 746 5 740 6 7 749 7 658 91 

Total 88 721 8 711 10 14 094 13 965 129 
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5. CONDITIONAL GRANTS 

5.1 Conditional grants and earmarked funds paid 

The table below describes each of the conditional grants and earmarked funds paid by 

the department. 

Conditional Grant 1: Comprehensive Agricultural Support Programme (CASP) 

Department from whom the 
grant has been transferred 

DAFF 

Purpose of the grant 
Provision of comprehensive agricultural support 

to farmers 

Expected outputs of the grant 
Improved production and agricultural 

infrastructure 

Actual outputs achieved 
Improved production and agricultural 

infrastructure 

Amount per amended DORA R170 937 000 

Amount transferred   (R’000) R170 937 000 

Reasons if amount as per 
DORA not transferred 

- 

Amount spent by the department 
(R’000) 

R148 342 000 

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity 

Delays in project implementation due to EIA 

processes 

Monitoring mechanism by the 
transferring department 

Bi-annual monitoring by DAFF, quarterly review 

meetings and MINTECH meetings  
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Conditional Grant 2: ILIMA/LETSEMA 

Department from whom the 
grant has been transferred 

DAFF 

Purpose of the grant Provision of food security  

Expected outputs of the grant Improved agricultural production  

Actual outputs achieved Improved agricultural production  

Amount per amended DORA  

Amount transferred   (R’000) R63 178 000 

Reasons if amount as per 
DORA not transferred 

 

Amount spent by the 
department/ municipality (R’000) 

R55 003 000 

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity 

 

Monitoring mechanism by the 
transferring department 

Bi-annual monitoring by DAFF, quarterly review 

meetings and MINTECH meetings 
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Conditional Grant 3: EPWP 

Department from whom the 
grant has been transferred 

DAFF 

Purpose of the grant Job creation and skills development  

Expected outputs of the grant Job creation and skills development  

Actual outputs achieved Job creation and skills development  

Amount per amended DORA  

Amount transferred   (R’000) R2 000 000 

Reasons if amount as per 
DORA not transferred 

 

Amount spent by the department 
(R’000) 

R2 000 000 

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity 

 

Monitoring mechanism by the 
transferring department 

Bi-annual monitoring by DAFF, quarterly review 

meetings and MINTECH meetings 
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Conditional Grant 4: Land Care 

Department from whom the 
grant has been transferred 

DAFF 

Purpose of the grant Enhanced Natural Sustainable Resources  

Expected outputs of the grant 
Improved land use and natural resource 

preservation  

Actual outputs achieved 
Improved land use and natural resource 

preservation  

Amount per amended DORA  

Amount transferred   (R’000) R5 865 000 

Reasons if amount as per 
DORA not transferred 

 

Amount spent by the department 
(R’000) 

R5 865 000 

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity 

 

Monitoring mechanism by the 
transferring department 

Bi-annual monitoring by DAFF, quarterly review 

meetings and MINTECH meetings 
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Infrastructure Enhancement Allocation  

Department from whom the 
grant has been transferred 

Provincial Treasury  

Purpose of the grant Upgrading of government infrastructure  

Expected outputs of the grant Upgrading and maintenance   

Actual outputs achieved Upgrading and maintenance   

Amount per amended DORA  

Amount transferred   (R’000) R89 686 000 

Reasons if amount as per 
DORA not transferred 

 

Amount spent by the 
department/ municipality (R’000) 

R57 572 000 

Reasons for the funds unspent 
by the entity 

 

Monitoring mechanism by the 
transferring department 
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6. DONOR FUNDS  

6.1 Donor Funds Received 

This department did not receive any donor funding  

7. CAPITAL INVESTMENT 

7.1 Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan 
 

Infrastructure 
projects 

 

2017/2018 2016/2017 

Final 
Appropriation 

R’000 

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 

Final 
Appropriation 

R’000 

Actual 
Expenditure 

R’000 

(Over)/Under 
Expenditure 

R’000 

 New and 
replacement assets  

- - - - - - 

Existing 
infrastructure assets  

- - - - - - 

- Upgrades and 
additions 

- - -  20 419 20 418 1 

- Rehabilitation, 
renovations and 
refurbishments 

- - - - - - 

- Maintenance and 
repairs 

- - - 4 523 4 495 28 

Infrastructure transfer  - - - 80 000 72 263 7 737 

- Current - - - 4 523 4 495 28 

- Capital - - - 100 419 92 980 7 739 

Total - - - 104 942 97 175 7 767 
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PART C: GOVERNANCE 
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1. INTRODUCTION 

Commitment by the department to maintain the highest standards of governance is 

fundamental to the management of public finances and resources.  Users want assurance 

that the department has good governance structures in place to effectively, efficiently and 

economically utilize the state resources, which is funded by the tax payer. 

2. RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Department of Agriculture and Rural Development has a Risk Management unit 

established as required by Section 38(1) (a) (i) of the Public Finance Management Act. 

The Risk Management unit operates within the terms of an approved Risk Management 

Policy which provides guidance on how to develop and integrate risk management into 

the culture and strategic decision-making of the Department. The department also applies 

the approved Risk Management Strategy which describes the methodology to be followed 

when implementing Risk Management in the department.    

During the course of the financial year, Strategic, Operational, Fraud and Project Risk 

assessments were conducted as mandated in section 3.2.1 of the Treasury Regulations. 

The Department has a Risk Management Committee comprising of one external and 

independent Chairperson and six (6) executive management officials as members. The 

Chief Audit Executive of the department is a permanent invitee to the committee 

meetings. The Risk Management Committee functions within approved terms of reference 

(approved Risk Management Committee Charter). The Chief Risk Officer is the 

Secretariat of the committee. The Committee meets on a quarterly basis to evaluate 

progress on the implementation of Risk Management within the department.    

Risk Management reports are presented on a quarterly basis to the Audit Committee. The 

Chief Risk Officer presented Risk Assessment Reports and Risk Management strategic 

documents to the Audit Committee. The risk management reports are interrogated by the 

Audit Committee and an opinion on the effectiveness of risk management is expressed by 

the committee. Four (4) Audit Committee meetings were attended during this financial 

year where the risk management reports were presented by the Chief Risk Officer and 

scrutinised by the Audit Committee. 

Risk Management is assessed by different assurance providers during the financial year. 

The following assurance providers assessed the effectiveness of the Risk Management 

during the financial year: Internal Audit unit, External Audit (AGSA), Provincial Treasury 

and DPME through the MPAT process.  
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The Department also participated in the Agriculture sector National Integrated Risk 

Management Forum which comprises of all Provincial Department of Agriculture, 

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries and State-Owned Entities. The forum 

meets on a quarterly basis and has had four (4) meetings during the financial year.  

The Risk Management unit has been able, to a satisfactory extent, integrate risk 

management into the culture of the department and all the activities in the approved Risk 

Management Implementation Plan pertaining to the implementation of risk management 

within the department were achieved. The departmental Risk Management Committee 

evaluated the progress on the implementation of mitigating strategies approved for risks 

identified. The performance of the department has improved to a certain extent; however 

more stringent efforts will be required to fully mitigate the risks. This could be attributed 

due to the fact that a substantial number of risks required additional human resource 

capacity and funding to be mitigated, both of which were insufficient during the financial 

year due to pressures in the departmental budget. Some redesigning of control measures 

will be done to manage material risks which could hinder the achievement of 

departmental objectives. 

3. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION   

The department has a Fraud Prevention Strategy and Whistle-blowing Policy aimed at 

creating a culture which is intolerable to fraud and corruption within the department. It is 

also aimed at encouraging the employees and other stakeholders to continuously behave 

ethically in their dealings with, or on behalf of the Department of Agriculture and Rural 

Development. With the implementation of the strategy and fraud prevention 

implementation plan, the department has successfully raised awareness on fraud and 

corruption throughout the department which encouraged and improved an ethical culture 

within the department. The department has also identified assessed potential fraud risks 

which might inhibit the achievement of critical departmental objectives. 

 

The department has a Whistle-blowing Policy which is distributed to officials of the 

department with the aim of encouraging the protected disclosure of any suspected illegal 

acts within the department. Risk Management also made presentations on fraud 

prevention as part of anti-corruption/ fraud awareness, mostly during risk assessment 

workshops. Whistle-blowing posters with different reporting channels of any suspicious 

illegal acts have also been displayed at all notice boards around the department. Any 

allegations of suspected fraud is investigated in line with the approved policies 

appropriate action taken as per the outcome of the investigation and applying sanctions 

which include redress in respect of financial losses. 
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The Department  has to a certain extent establish a culture of anti-corruption however 

more efforts are required to inculcate this ethical culture within the department especially 

an increase in human resource capacity to deal specifically with fraud and corruption. 

4. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Brief description on the processes implemented to minimise conflict of interest.  Discuss 

the process followed where conflict of interest has been identified. 

5. CODE OF CONDUCT  

The Code of Conduct indicates the spirit in which employees should perform their duties 

in the Public Service. The primary purpose thereof is to promote exemplary conduct and 

compliance with the Code which is expected to enhance professionalism and help to 

ensure confidence in the Public Service.  The Department ensured that every official of 

the Department has signed receipt of a copy of the Code of Conduct. Training was also 

provided to staff members on the Code of Conduct during departmental Human Resource 

Road-shows conducted during the year under reporting. 

Financial disclosures of Members of the SMS were submitted in the 2017/18 financial 

year. The Department managed to comply with the disclosures due date and achieved 

100% compliance. 

6. HEALTH SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

The Department of Agriculture and Rural Development is regarded as one of the high-risk 

sectors in both developing and industrialized countries, and is ranked as one of the three 

most hazardous industries together with mining and transport. Machinery such as tractors 

and harvesters cause the highest frequency and fatality rates of accidents and injury.  

Exposure to agro-chemicals constitutes another major occupational hazard, which results 

in accidental and intestinal poisoning and invariably work-related cancers and 

reproductive impairments. In order to remedy or minimise the risks in the Department has 

implemented the following measures during the year under reporting: 

Safety Health Environment Risk and Quality (SHERQ) Management Policy and SHERQ 

Operational Plans have been developed, approved and implemented. Health and Safety 

Representatives were nominated and appointed by the HOD. Safety inspections were 

conducted, hazards identified and reported on for mitigation or further management by the 

relevant sections. 

Safety Awareness information sessions were conducted on e.g. the use of Personal 

Protective Clothing, OHS Act 83 of 1995 and Procedures for reporting of Injuries on Duty. 
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7. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES 

 The Portfolio Committee performed its oversight role by convening quarterly meetings 

to evaluate financial and non-financial reports from the department.  

8. SCOPA RESOLUTIONS 

Resolution 
No. 

Subject Details 
Response by the 

department 
Resolved 
(Yes/No) 

15/2016 Supply Chain 
Management  

Accounting Officer must Implement 
measures to ensure that the Supply 
Chain Management toolkit that was 
rolled out by Provincial Treasury during 
the 2015/16 financial year is used to its 
full potential in order to curb non-
compliance with Supply Chain practices 
that results in Irregular expenditure or 
non-compliance with laws and 
regulations; and 

The template was developed in 
March 2017 and implemented to 
monitor the number of officials 
who locked into the SCM toolkit 

Yes 

15/2016 Supply Chain 
Management  

Ensure staff is nominated for training 
presented by Provincial Treasury 

Officials were nominated on the 
13th of December 2016 

Yes 

15/2016 Responses to 
written 
questions of 
the Portfolio 
Committee 

Accounting Officer must ensure that 
written responses provided to the 
Committee is submitted within the 
timeframe indicated by the committee; 

Written responses will in future 
be submitted within the required 
timeframes 

Yes 

15/2016 Responses to 
written 
questions of 
the Portfolio 
Committee 

Written responses receive the 
necessary priority and attention to 
ensure that it is factually correct and 
complete 

Written responses will in future 
receive priority and attention to 
ensure that information 
submitted is factually correct and 
complete 

Yes 

15/2016 Investigations 
undertaken 
by the Public 
Service 
Commission 

Accounting Officer must respond to the 
PSC within the timeframes required by 
the PSC 

Written responses will in future 
be submitted within the required 
timeframes 

Yes  

  
9. PRIOR MODIFICATIONS TO AUDIT REPORTS 

The department received an adverse opinion in the 2016/17 financial year mainly due to 

the manner in which it had classified the expenditure relating to transfers. Subsequently 

an action plan to address all findings raised by the AGSA in the Audit report as well as in 

the management letter was developed, and the progress is reported monthly to the 

relevant department and oversight structures.  
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10. INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEES 

Key activities and objectives of the Internal Audit Unit 

Internal Audit is a function established in terms of Section 38(1) (a)(ii) of the PFMA read with the 

Treasury Regulations Section 3.2.2. Internal Audit’s mandate is to assist the Department to 

accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 

the effectiveness of risk management, internal control and governance processes.  

Specify summary of audit work done 

 In the 2017/ 18 Financial Year, the Internal Audit Activity managed to evaluate major risks identified as 

part of the risk management process and reported key findings to management to improve controls 

and governance processes. Such reports have been instrumental in assisting the department to 

improve the controls which guides the implementation of its programmes and has therefore made 

some contribution towards the achievement of the goals of the department. 

 

Other Internal Audit functions include: 

 Attendance and participation in management meetings (EMC) 

 Review in the MPAT Process  

 Facilitation and coordination of Combined Assurance  

 Secretariat of Audit Committee 

 Advisory role in Risk Management Committee 

 

Key activities and objectives of the Audit Committee 

The Department’s Audit Committee is constituted in terms of Sections 76(4) (d) and 77 of the 

Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 as amended, read in conjunction with paragraphs 3.1 

to 3.1.16 of the Treasury Regulations. It must among others, review the following; 

a) the effectiveness of the internal control systems; 

b) the effectiveness of the internal audit function; 

c) the risk areas of the institution’s operations to be covered in the scope of internal and 

external audits; 

d) the adequacy, reliability and accuracy of the financial information provided to 

management and other users of such information; 

e) any accounting and auditing concerns identified as a result of internal and external audits 

f) the institution’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions; and 

g) the activities of the internal audit function, including its annual work programme, 

coordination with the external auditors, the reports of significant investigations and the 

responses of management to specific recommendations 
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The objective of the Audit Committee is to assist the Accounting Officer in fulfilling his oversight 

responsibilities of the financial reporting processes, the system of internal controls, the audit 

process, and the Department processes for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and 

the code of conduct. 

 
The Audit Committee has approved the relevant planning documents for Internal Audit for the 2017/18 

financial year, and has received and reviewed the Internal Audit reports and concludes that, even 

though human resource capacity constraints is still a challenge in the unit, the Internal Audit Activity 

has been effective in discharging its responsibilities emanating from the Internal Audit Charter and in 

terms of its three (3) year Strategic and Annual Audit Plan.   

 

Audit Committee Members and Attendance: 

The Audit Committee which consists of four (4) members, has met five (5) times during the 2017/18 
financial year. The attendance of the members was as follows during this financial year: 
 

 Member attended the Audit Committee meeting 

x Member did not attend Audit Committee meeting  

 

The table below discloses relevant information on the Audit Committee members for 2017/ 2018: 

Name Qualifications Internal /External Date appointed Date Resigned 
No. of 

Meetings 
attended 

Ms. T Mnqeta BComm External 25/01/2017 N/A 5 

Dr  Laubscher BCom (Hons), M.s, Ph.D External 25/01/2017 
N/A 

5 

Mé T Segoe-Backward  B.Iuris, LLB External 25/01/2017 
N/A 

5 

Mr B Dlamini  N. Diploma Acc, CFE, SAIPA External 25/01/2017 
N/A 

5 

 

 

Name 24/05/17 28/07/17 19/10/17 26/01/18 09/03/2018 

Ms. T Mnqeta       

Dr. K Laubscher       

Adv. T Segoe-Backward      

Mr. B Dlamini      
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11. REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2018. 

 

Audit Committee Responsibility  

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 

38(1)(a)(ii) of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13.  

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted the Audit Committee Charter as its 

appropriate formal terms of reference, and has regulated its affairs in compliance with this 

charter and discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein, except that we have not 

reviewed changes in the accounting policies and practices.  

The Effectiveness of Internal Control 

Our review of the findings of Internal Audit work which was based on risk assessments 

conducted in the Department revealed certain weaknesses which were then raised with the 

Department.  

The following were areas of concern: 

 The Committee has placed significant effort in understanding and advising 

management to ensure that the strategic direction of the department is geared 

towards making an impact in the lives of the agricultural sector.  

 The Audit Committee recognizes the effort of management to improve controls over 

assets, however there are challenges which management must overcome through 

the development of a clear strategy in this regard. The Audit Committee is monitoring 

progress on the Asset Turnaround Plan. 

 The instability in the Department due to the various investigations instituted by the 

Law Enforcement Agencies from allegations of irregularities and misconduct on the 

management of projects such as the Vrede Dairy Project and the Parys Poultry 

Project.  

 The impact of the reclassification of transfer payments to goods and services on the 

Annual Financial Statements.  

 The non-tabling of the 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 Annual Reports due to 

disagreements pertaining to the external audit outcome. 

 Slow progress relating to Agro-processing in the province subsequent to the Agro-

processing Summit.  

 Human Resource capacity constraints in the Internal Audit unit.  
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Moreover, the Audit Committee takes note of the efforts of management in improving the 

effectiveness of the governance processes and is pleased to have noticed that their inputs 

were taken to consideration and that plans are in place to address areas of deficiencies.  

 

In-Year Management and Monthly/ Quarterly Report  

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the contents and quality of monthly and quarterly reports 

prepared and issued by the Department of Agriculture and Rural Development in terms of the 

PFMA and Division of Revenue Act. However suggestions have been made in this regard, to 

further enhance the quality of these reports.  

Evaluation of Financial Statements 

The Audit Committee has: 

 Reviewed the draft Annual Financial Statements, and can concur that the Annual 

Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the preparation guide and 

specimen Financial Statements issued by National Treasury and in compliance with all 

applicable laws and regulations. 

 Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the 

Annual Report with the Auditor General and the management. 

 Reviewed the Department’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions. 

 Reviewed the information on the predetermined objectives to be included in the annual 

report. 

 Reviewed the quality and timeliness of the financial statements availed to it for oversight 

purposes. 

 Reviewed the most significant adjustments which resulted from the audit 

 Reviewed the draft audit report containing issues raised by the Auditor-General for this 

financial year 

However, the department’s decision to accept the Auditor-General’s recommendation on the 

reclassification of expenditure relating to transfer payments has a significant impact on the 

accuracy of the Annual Financial Statements. The Audit Committee has made a 

recommendation to management to develop a clear strategy to deal with the impact of this 

decision on the financial statements of the Department.  
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Auditor–General’s Report  

In the review of the Department’s action plan for audit issues raised in the previous financial 

year, the Audit Committee noted that although certain issues raised by the Auditor-General 

involving internal controls were responded to, management still need to ensure mitigation of 

these issues, paying particular attention to those raised repeatedly in previous financial years. 

The Audit Committee has reviewed the management comments in this regards and made 

recommendations to further improve management control mechanisms. 

 he Audit Committee noted that the Department and the Auditor-General had disagreements 

on matters of significance which had a significant impact on the audit outcome.  It has raised 

its concern and management was requested to seek clarity and finality pertaining to the 

disagreements. The Committee has therefore noted the decision of management in this 

regard, to reclassify the affected transactions and the negative impact which that decision had 

on the audit outcome for the year under revie w. Numerous engagements were held previously 

with various stakeholders to advice on the treatment of these transactions and the Committee 

is pleased that the disagreements have finally been resolved.   

 

The Audit Committee will review the Audit Report from Auditor-General for the year under 

review, as well as the management’s action plan to address findings raised as soon as the 

report has been issued.  

 

 
_____________________ 

Ms. T Mnqeta 

Chairperson of the Audit Committee 

Department of Agriculture and Rural Development   

Date: 30 July 2018 
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1. INTRODUCTION  

The information contained in this part of the annual report has been prescribed by the 

Minister for the Public Service and Administration for all departments in the public service. 

2. OVERVIEW OF HUMAN RESOURCES  

The Department has an approved MTEF HR Plan which is about determining the demand 

for and supply of employees that are critical to achieving strategic objectives, analysing 

the gap between the demand and supply and developing a plan that seeks to close the 

gap. The total workforce of the department was 1 097 and the vacancy rate was 3.7% at 

the end of 2017/18 financial year. 

The plan entails the overview of the Department; strategic direction of the department; 

environmental scan; workforce analysis (Supply and Demand); HR gap analysis; priority 

departmental HR planning issues; budget analysis; action plan and monitoring and 

evaluation of the implementation of the action plan. 

Key priorities identified in the plan includes amongst other, skills development, filling of 

posts, management of the staff establishment etc. A total of 29 new employees were 

appointed mainly in the core business of the department such as Extension Services and 

Veterinary Services. Training was provided to 377 staff members during the year under 

reporting. Bursaries were allocated to 71 staff members to further their studies in both 

graduate and post graduate qualifications and 13 interns were appointed during the year 

under reporting. 

The department has a Recruitment and Selection Policy and Plan as well as a Staff 

Retention Policy and Plan. Performance assessment of staff members was conducted on 

an audited evidence based approach whereby both the audit of non-financial performance 

indicators as well as financial performance indicators were assessed in line with the audit 

report. The MPAT results were also taken into consideration when performance 

assessments were done.   

The Department of Agriculture and Rural Development is regarded as one of the high-risk 
sectors in both developing and industrialized countries, and is ranked as one of the three 
most hazardous industries together with mining and transport. In order to remedy or 
minimise the risks in the Department has implemented the various OHS activities such as 
inspections, training, awareness and has established unit inspection committees to 
provide reports and referrals where necessary. 

HIV and AIDS programmes as well as employee productivity management were also 

implemented and figures are reflected in tables below under the Human Resource 

Chapter. 
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3. HUMAN RESOURCES OVERSIGHT STATISTICS  

3.1. Personnel related expenditure 

The following tables summarises the final audited personnel related expenditure by 

programme and by salary bands. In particular, it provides an indication of the following: 

 amount spent on personnel  

 amount spent on salaries, overtime, homeowner’s allowances and medical aid.  

 

Table 3.1.1 Personnel expenditure by programme for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Programme 

Total 

expenditure 

(R’000) 

Personnel 

expenditure 

(R’000) 

Training 

expenditure 

(R’000) 

Professional 

and special 

services 

expenditure 

(R’000) 

Personnel 

expenditure 

as a % of 

total 

expenditure 

Average 

personnel 

cost per 

employee 

(R’000) 

Administration 177 905   126 996 0 16 063  116 

Sustainable 
Resource 
Management 

34 058 25 627 0 0  10 

Farmer Support 
and Development 

329 298 103 522  0 0  95 

Veterinary 
Services 

58 969  54 438  0 138 659  28 

Research 52 470 30 466  0 0  7 

Agric Economics 11 692 10 824  0 0  19 

Structured 

Agricultural 

Training 

25 838 20 653 0 0  23 

Rural 

Development 
8 711 8 081  0 0  50 

Total 698 668 380 607  0 154 722  348 
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Table 3.1.2 Personnel costs by salary band for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Salary band 
Personnel 

expenditure (R’000) 

% of total 

personnel cost 

No. of 

employees 

Average 

personnel cost 

per employee 

(R’000) 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 9 936 2.61 82 121 

Skilled (level 3-5) 83 329 22.0 432 193 

Highly skilled production (levels 

6-8) 
139 533 37.0 387 361 

Highly skilled supervision 

(levels 9-12) 
105 444 28.0 165 639 

Senior and Top management 

(levels 13-16) 
40 945 11.0 31 1 321 

Total 379 187 100 1097 346 

 

 

Table 3.1.3 Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Aid by programme for the period 1 

April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

 

 

Programme 

Salaries Overtime 
Home Owners 

Allowance 
Medical Aid 

Amount 

(R’000 

Salaries 

as a % of 

personnel 

costs 

Amount 

(R’000) 

Overtime 

as a % of 

personnel 

costs 

Amount 

(R’000) 

HOA as a 

% of 

personnel 

costs 

Amount 

(R’000) 

Medical 

aid as a % 

of 

personnel 

costs 

Administration 109 244 86.0 332 0.3 4 664 3.7 6 591  5.2 

Sustainable 
Resource 
Management 

22 299 87.0 0 0 429 1.7 997 3.9 

Farmer 
Support and 
Development 

88 052 85.1 1  0 3 931 3.8 6 310  6.1 

Veterinary 
Services 

46 260  85.0 12 0 1 551 2.8 2 849 5.2 

Research 26 303  10.3 662 0.3 1 104 3.6 2 667 8.8 

Agric 
Economics 

9 456 87.4 0 0 183 1.7 362 3.3 

Structured 

Agricultural 

Training 

17 754 86.0 178 0.9 811 3.9 1 109 5.4 

Rural 

Development 
7 056 87.3 0 0 209 2.6 283 3.5 

Total 326 324 85.7 1 185 0.3 12 882 3.4 21 168 5.6 
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Table 3.1.4 Salaries, Overtime, Home Owners Allowance and Medical Aid by salary band for the period 1 

April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

 

Salary band 

Salaries 
Overtime 

 

Home Owners 

Allowance 
Medical Aid 

Amount 

(R’000 

Salaries 

as a % of 

personnel 

costs 

Amount 

(R’000) 

Overtime 

as a % of 

personnel 

costs 

Amount 

(R’000) 

HOA as a 

% of 

personnel 

costs 

Amount 

(R’000) 

Medical 

aid as a % 

of 

personnel 

costs 

Skilled (level 

1-2)   
9 451 95.1 147 1.4 1 022 10.2 920 9.2 

Skilled (level 

3-5)   
73 051 88.0 651 0.7 6 328 7.5 8 769 10.5 

Highly skilled 

production 

(levels 6-8) 

100 530 72.0 208 0.1 4 401 3.1 7 626 5.4 

Highly skilled 

supervision 

(levels 9-12 

101 773 97.0 189 0.1 1 165 1.1 2 863 2.7 

Senior 

management 

(level 13-16) 

33 800 83.0 0 0 535 1.3 356 0.8 

Total 318 605 84.0 1 195 0.3 13 451 3.5 20 534 5.4 

 

3.2. Employment and Vacancies 

The tables in this section summarise the position with regard to employment and vacancies.  

The following tables summarise the number of posts on the establishment, the number of 

employees, the vacancy rate, and whether there are any staff that are additional to the 

establishment.  

This information is presented in terms of three key variables: 

 programme 

 salary band 

 critical occupations (see definition in notes below). 

Departments have identified critical occupations that need to be monitored. In terms of current 

regulations, it is possible to create a post on the establishment that can be occupied by more 

than one employee. Therefore, the vacancy rate reflects the percentage of posts that are not 

filled.  
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Table 3.2.1 Employment and vacancies by programme as on 31 March 2018 

Programme 

Number of 

posts on 

approved 

establishment 

Number of posts 

filled 
Vacancy Rate 

Number of employees 

additional to the 

establishment 

Administration 397 391 1.5 0 

Sustainable Resource 
Management 

46 46 0.0  

Farmer Support and 
Development 

334 328 1.8 30 

Veterinary Services 134 132 1.5 0 

Research 104 102 1.9 0 

Agric Economics 20 18 10.0 0 

Structured 

Agricultural Training 
66 63 4.5 0 

Rural Development 18 17 5.6 0 

Total 1119 1097 2.0 30 

 

 

Table 3.2.2 Employment and vacancies by salary band as on 31 March 2018 

Salary band 

Number of 

posts on 

approved 

establishment 

Number of posts 

filled 
Vacancy Rate 

Number of employees 

additional to the 

establishment 

Lower skilled ( 1-2) 85 82 3.5 0 

Skilled(3-5) 438 432 1.4 0 

Highly skilled 

production (6-8) 
392 387 1.3 30 

Highly skilled 

supervision (9-12) 
169 165 2.4 0 

Senior management 

(13-16) 
35 31 11.4 0 

Total  1119 1097 2.0 30 
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Table 3.2.3 Employment and vacancies by critical occupations as on 31 March 2018 

Critical occupation 

Number of 

posts on 

approved 

establishment 

Number of posts 

filled 
Vacancy Rate 

Number of employees 

additional to the 

establishment 

Engineer 7 6 14.3 0 

Veterinary Technologist 10 8 20.0 0 

Lab Manager (Soil and 

Water Laboratory) 
1 0 0 0 

Total 18 14 22.2 0 

 

3.3. Filling of SMS Posts 

The tables in this section provide information on employment and vacancies as it relates to 

members of the Senior Management Service by salary level. It also provides information on 

advertising and filling of SMS posts, reasons for not complying with prescribed timeframes and 

disciplinary steps taken. 

 

Table 3.3.1 SMS post information as on 31 March 2018 

SMS Level 

Total 

number of 

funded 

SMS posts 

Total number 

of  SMS 

posts filled 

% of SMS 

posts filled 

Total number of 

SMS posts vacant 

% of SMS posts 

vacant 

Director-General/ 

Head of 

Department 

1 1 100 0 0 

Salary Level 16 0 0 0 0 0 

Salary Level 15 1 1 100 0 0 

Salary Level 14 6 6 100 0 0 

Salary Level 13 26 22 84.6 4  15.4% 

Total 34 30 88.2 4 11.8 
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Table 3.3.2 SMS post information as on 30 September 2017 

SMS Level 

Total 

number of 

funded 

SMS posts 

Total number 

of  SMS 

posts filled 

% of SMS 

posts filled 

Total number of 

SMS posts vacant 

% of SMS posts 

vacant 

Director-General/ 

Head of 

Department 

1 1 
 

100 
0 0 

Salary Level 16 0 0 100 0 0 

Salary Level 15 1 1 100 0 0 

Salary Level 14 6 5 83.3 1 16.7 

Salary Level 13 26 25 96.2 1 3.9 

Total 34 32 94.1 2 5.9 

 

Table 3.3.3 Advertising and filling of SMS posts for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

SMS Level 

Advertising Filling of Posts 

Number of vacancies per 

level advertised in 6 

months of becoming 

vacant 

Number of vacancies per 

level filled in 6 months of 

becoming vacant 

Number of vacancies per level 

not filled in 6 months but 

filled in 12 months  

Director-General/ 

Head of 

Department 

0 0 0 

Salary Level 16 0 0 0 

Salary Level 15 0 0 0 

Salary Level 14 3 1 1 

Salary Level 13 3 3 0 

Total 5 4 1 

 

Table 3.3.4 Reasons for not having complied with the filling of funded vacant SMS - Advertised within 6 

months and filled within 12 months after becoming vacant for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Reasons for vacancies not advertised within six months  

None 

 

 

 

Reasons for vacancies not filled within twelve months  

None 
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Table 3.3.5 Disciplinary steps taken for not complying with the prescribed timeframes for filling SMS posts 

within 12 months for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Reasons for vacancies not advertised within six months  

None 

 

 

 

Reasons for vacancies not filled within six months  

None 

 

 

3.4. Job Evaluation 

Within a nationally determined framework, executing authorities may evaluate or re-evaluate any 

job in his or her organisation. In terms of the Regulations all vacancies on salary levels 9 and 

higher must be evaluated before they are filled. The following table summarises the number of 

jobs that were evaluated during the year under review. The table also provides statistics on the 

number of posts that were upgraded or downgraded.  
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Table 3.4.1 Job Evaluation by Salary band for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Salary band 

Number of 

posts on 

approved 

establishment 

Number of 

Jobs 

Evaluated 

% of 

posts 

evaluated 

by salary 

bands 

Posts Upgraded Posts downgraded 

Number % of  

posts 

evaluated 

Number % of  

posts 

evaluated 

Lower Skilled 

(Levels1-2) 
85 85 100.0 0 0 0 0 

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 438 316 72.1 0 0 0 0 

Highly skilled 

production (Levels 6-

8) 

392 103 26.3 0 0 0 0 

Highly skilled 

supervision 

(Levels 9-12) 

169 50 29.6 0 0 0 0 

Senior Management 

Service Band A 
26 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Senior Management 

Service Band B 
6 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Senior Management 

Service Band C 
1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Senior Management 

Service Band D 
2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 1 119 554 49.5 0 0 0 0 

 

The following table provides a summary of the number of employees whose positions were 

upgraded due to their post being upgraded. The number of employees might differ from the 

number of posts upgraded since not all employees are automatically absorbed into the new posts 

and some of the posts upgraded could also be vacant. 

 

Table 3.4.2 Profile of employees whose positions were upgraded due to their posts being 

upgraded for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Gender African Asian Coloured White Total 

Female 0 0 0 0 0 

Male 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 0 0 0 
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Employees with a disability 0 

 

The following table summarises the number of cases where remuneration bands exceeded the 
grade determined by job evaluation. Reasons for the deviation are provided in each case. 

 

Table 3.4.3  Employees with salary levels higher than those determined by job evaluation by   

occupation for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Occupation 
Number of 

employees 
Job evaluation level 

Remuneration 

level 
Reason for deviation 

     

     

     

     

Total number of employees whose salaries exceeded the level determined by job 

evaluation 

None 

Percentage of total employed  

 

The following table summarises the beneficiaries of the above in terms of race, gender, and 

disability. 

Table 3.4.4 Profile of employees who have salary levels higher than those determined by job 

evaluation for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Total number of Employees whose salaries exceeded the grades determine by job 

evaluation 

None 

 

3.5. Employment Changes 

This section provides information on changes in employment over the financial year. Turnover 

rates provide an indication of trends in the employment profile of the department. The following 

tables provide a summary of turnover rates by salary band and critical occupations (see definition 

in notes below). 
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Table 3.5.1 Annual turnover rates by salary band for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Salary band 

Number of employees 

at beginning of period-

1 April 2017 

Appointments 

and transfers 

into the 

department 

Terminations 

and transfers 

out of the 

department 

Turnover rate 

Lower skilled ( Levels 1-2) 49 24 2 4.08 

Skilled (Levels3-5) 404 45 25 6.18 

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-

8) 
342 17 20 5.84 

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 

9-12) 

152 

 
11 6 3.94 

Senior Management Service 

Bands A 
19 3 2 10.52 

Senior Management Service 

Bands B 
5 1 0 

 

0 

 

Senior Management Service 

Bands C 
1 0 0 0 

Senior Management Service 

Bands D 

2 

 
0 0 0 

Contracts 43 36 5 11.62 

Total 1017 137 60 5.89 

 

Table 3.5.2 Annual turnover rates by critical occupation for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Critical occupation 

Number of 

employees at 

beginning of period-

April 2017 

Appointments 

and transfers 

into the 

department 

Terminations 

and transfers 

out of the 

department 

Turnover rate 

Engineer 7 0 0 0 

Veterinary Technologist 6 4 2 33.3 

Lab Manager (Soil and Water 

Laboratory) 
0 0 0 0 

Total 13 4 2 15.4 
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The table below identifies the major reasons why staff left the department.  

 

Table 3.5.3 Reasons why staff left the department for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Termination Type   Number % of Total Resignations 

Death 13 21.66 

Resignation 13 21.66 

Expiry of contract 5 8.33 

Dismissal – operational changes 0 0 

Dismissal – misconduct 0 0 

Dismissal – inefficiency  0 0 

Discharged due to ill-health 0 0 

Retirement 25 41.66 

Transfer to other Public Service Departments 4 6.66 

Other 0 0 

Total 60  

Total number of employees who left as a % of 

total employment 

5.4  

 

Table 3.5.4 Promotions by critical occupation for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Occupation 

Employees 

1 April 

2017 

Promotions 

to another 

salary level 

Salary level 

promotions as a 

% of employees 

by occupation 

Progressions 

to another 

notch within a 

salary level 

Notch progression 

as a % of 

employees by 

occupation 

Engineer 7 0 0 6 85.7 

Veterinary 

Technologist 
6 0 0 5 83.3 

Laboratory Manager 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 13 0 0 11 84.6 
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Table 3.5.5 Promotions by salary band for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Salary Band 

Employees 

1 April 

2017 

Promotions 

to another 

salary level 

Salary bands 

promotions 

as a % of 

employees by 

salary level 

Progressions 

to another 

notch within a 

salary level 

Notch progression as a % 

of 

employees by salary bands 

Lower skilled ( 

Levels 1-2) 
49 0 

0 
24 48.9 

Skilled (Levels3-5) 404 
0 0 

337 83.4 

Highly skilled 

production (Levels 

6-8) 

342 
5 1.4 

218 64.7 

Highly skilled 

supervision 

(Levels 9-12) 

152 
2 1.3 

101 66.4 

Senior 

Management 

(Level 13-16) 

27 
1 3.7 

25 92.5 

Total 974 8 0.8 705 72.3 
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3.6. Employment Equity  

Table 3.6.1 Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following 

occupational categories as on 31 March 2018 

Occupational 

category 

Male Female Total 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White 

Legislators, senior 

officials and 

managers 

17 0 0 2 6 0 0 1 26 

Professionals 106 2 0 28 109 1 0 19 265 

Technicians and 

associate 

professionals 

97 2 0 32 95 3 1 13 243 

Clerks  68 1 0 1 118 5 0 13 206 

Service and sales 

workers 
81 1 0 0 54 0 0 0 136 

Skilled agriculture 

and fishery 

workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Craft and related 

trades workers 
2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Plant and 

machine 

operators and 

assemblers 

25 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 27 

Elementary 

occupations 
97 1 0 1 93 0 0 0 192 

Total 493 8 0 64 476 10 1 45 1097 

Employees with 

disabilities 
8 0 0 3 6 0 0 1 18 
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Table 3.6.2 Total number of employees (including employees with disabilities) in each of the following 

occupational bands as on 31 March 2018 

Occupational 

band 

Male Female Total 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White 

 Top Management  3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 

Senior 

Management  
16 0 0 2 9 0 0 1 28 

Professionally 

qualified and 

experienced 

specialists and 

mid-management 

48 1 0 40 52 1 0 20 162 

Skilled technical 

and academically 

qualified workers, 

junior 

management, 

supervisors, 

foreman and 

superintendents 

155 3 0 18 182 5 1 23 387 

Semi-skilled and 

discretionary 

decision making 

236 4 0 1 187 2 0 1 431 

Unskilled and 

defined decision 

making 

35 0 0 0 46 1 0 0 82 

Total 493 8 0 64 476 10 1 45 1097 
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Table 3.6.3 Recruitment for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 

Occupational 

band 

Male Female Total 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White 

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Senior 
Management 

4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and 
mid-management 

4 0 0 3 1 0 0 5 13 

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foreman and 
superintendents 

20 0 0 1 28 0 0 0 49 

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision making 

15 0 0 0 21 1 0 0 37 

Unskilled and 
defined decision 
making 

9 0 0 0 14 1 0 0 24 

Total 52 0 0 4 64 2 0 5 127 

Employees with 
disabilities 

2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 5 
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Table 3.6.4 Promotions for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 

Occupational band 
Male Female Total 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White 

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Senior Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Professionally qualified and 

experienced specialists and 

mid-management 

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 

Skilled technical and 

academically qualified 

workers, junior management, 

supervisors, foreman and 

superintendents 

3 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 5 

Semi-skilled and 

discretionary decision 

making 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Unskilled and defined 

decision making 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 4 1 0 0 2 0 0 1 8 

Employees with 
disabilities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Table 3.6.5 Terminations for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 

Occupational band 
Male Female Total 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White 

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Senior Management 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Professionally qualified and 

experienced specialists and 

mid-management 

2 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 6 

Skilled technical and 

academically qualified 

workers, junior management, 

supervisors, foreman and 

superintendents 

5 0 0 2 5 0 0 4 16 

Semi-skilled and 

discretionary decision 

making 

12 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 25 

Unskilled and defined 

decision making 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total  21 0 0 3 19 0 0 6 49 

Employees with 

Disabilities 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Table 3.6.6 Disciplinary action for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 

Disciplinary action 
Male Female Total 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White 

Final Written Warning 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

 

Table 3.6.7 Skills development for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 

Occupational 

category 

Male Female Total 

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White 

Legislators, senior 
officials and managers 

5 0 0 2 3 0 0 1 11 

Professionals 116 0 0 11 79 2 0 2 210 

Technicians and 
associate professionals 

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Clerks  2 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 9 

Service and sales 
workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Craft and related 
trades workers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Plant and machine 
operators and 
assemblers 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Elementary 
occupations 

6 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 16 

Total 130 0 0 13 99 2 0 3 247 

Employees with 
disabilities 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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3.7. Signing of Performance Agreements by SMS Members 

All members of the SMS must conclude and sign performance agreements within specific 

timeframes. Information regarding the signing of performance agreements by SMS members, the 

reasons for not complying within the prescribed timeframes and disciplinary steps taken is 

presented here. 

Table 3.7.1 Signing of Performance Agreements by SMS members as on 31 May 2017 

SMS Level 
Total number of 

funded SMS posts 

Total number of  SMS 

members 

Total number of  

signed 

performance 

agreements 

Signed performance 

agreements as % of 

total number of SMS 

members 

Director-General/ 

Head of 

Department 

1 1 1 100 

Salary Level 16 0 0 0 0 

Salary Level 15 1 1 1 100 

Salary Level 14 6 5 5 100 

Salary Level 13 26 25 25 100 

Total 34 32 32 100 

 

Table 3.7.2 Reasons for not having concluded Performance agreements for all SMS members as on 31 

March 2018 

Reasons  

None 

 

 

 

Table 3.7.3 Disciplinary steps taken against SMS members for not having concluded Performance 

agreements as on 31 March 2018 

Reasons  

None 
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3.8. Performance Rewards 

To encourage good performance, the department has granted the following performance rewards 
during the year under review. The information is presented in terms of race, gender, disability, salary 
bands and critical occupations (see definition in notes below). 
 

Table 3.8.1 Performance Rewards by race, gender and disability for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 

March 2018 

 

Race and Gender 

Beneficiary Profile Cost 

Number of 

beneficiaries 

Number of 

employees 

% of total 

within group 

Cost 

(R’000) 

Average 

cost per 

employee 

African      

  Male 60 489 12.3 809 13 483 

  Female 88 471 18.6 991  11 261 

Asian      

  Male 0 0 0 0 0 

  Female 0 1 0 0 0 

Coloured      

  Male 2 8 25 15 7 500 

  Female 1 10 10 29 29 000 

White      

  Male 11 63 17.4 295 26 818 

  Female  13 44 29.5 341 26 230 

Total 175 1 097 16 2 480 14 171 

 

Table 3.8.2 Performance Rewards by salary band for personnel below Senior Management Service for the 

period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 

 

Salary band 

Beneficiary Profile Cost Total cost as a 

% of the total 

personnel 

expenditure 

Number of 

beneficiaries 

Number of 

employees 

% of total 

within salary 

bands 

Total Cost 

(R’000) 

Average cost 

per employee 

Lower 

Skilled 

(Levels 1-2) 

 

3 
82 

 

3.6 

 

14 

 

4 666 

 

0.1 

Skilled (level 

3-5) 
86 432 19.9 535 6 221 0.6 

Highly skilled 

production 

(level 6-8) 

 

48 
387 

 

12.4 

 

616 

 

12 833 

 

0.4 

Highly skilled 

supervision 

(level 9-12) 

 

32 
165 

 

19.4 

 

824 

 

25 750 

 

0.8 

Total 169 1 066 15.8 1 991 11 781 0.6 
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Table 3.8.3 Performance Rewards by critical occupation for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 

2018 

 

Critical occupation 

Beneficiary Profile Cost 

Number of 

beneficiaries 

Number of 

employees 

% of total 

within 

occupation 

Total Cost 

(R’000) 

Average cost 

per employee 

Engineer 2 8 25 78 39 000 

Veterinary Technologist 0 6 0 0 0 

Laboratory Manger: Soil 

Lab 
0 0 0 0 0 

Total 2 14 14.3 78 39 000 

   

Table 3.8.4 Performance related rewards (cash bonus), by salary band for Senior Management Service for 

the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 

 

Salary band 

Beneficiary Profile Cost Total cost as a 

% of the total 

personnel 

expenditure 

Number of 

beneficiaries 

Number of 

employees 

% of total 

within salary 

bands 

Total Cost 

(R’000) 

Average cost 

per employee 

Band A 3 25 12 246 82 000 0.6 

Band B 0 5 0 0 0 0 

Band C 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Band D 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Total 3 32 9.3 246 82 000 0.6 
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Foreign Workers 

The tables below summarise the employment of foreign nationals in the department in terms of salary 
band and major occupation.  

 
Table 3.9.1 Foreign workers by salary band for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Salary band 
01 April 2017 31 March 2018 Change 

Number % of total Number % of total Number % Change 

Lower skilled  0 0 0 0 0 0 

Highly skilled 

production 

(Lev. 6-8) 

1 20 1 25 0 0 

Highly skilled 

supervision 

(Lev. 9-12) 

4 80 3 75 1 33.3 

Contract  (level 

9-12) 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

Contract  (level 

13-16) 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 5 100 4 100 1 25 

 

Table 3.9.2 Foreign workers by major occupation for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 
 

Major 

occupation 

01 April 2017 31 March 2018 Change 

Number % of total Number % of total Number % Change 

Engineer 1 100 1 100 0 0 

Vet Technician 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Lab Manager 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 1 100 1 100 0 0 
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3.9. Leave utilisation  

The Public Service Commission identified the need for careful monitoring of sick leave within the 

public service. The following tables provide an indication of the use of sick leave and disability 

leave. In both cases, the estimated cost of the leave is also provided. 

Table 3.10.1 Sick leave for the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Salary band Total days 

% Days with 

Medical 

certification 

Number of 

Employees 

using sick 

leave 

% of total 

employees 

using sick 

leave 

Average 

days per 

employee 

Estimated 

Cost 

(R’000) 

Lower Skills (Level 1-2) 333   91 54   8.3 6.1 168 

Skilled (levels 3-5) 1 928   89 255   39.2 7.5 1 368 

Highly skilled production 

(levels 6-8) 
1 502   82 231   34.8 6.5 2 063 

Highly skilled supervision 

(levels 9 -12) 
578   81 86   13.1 6.7 1 417 

Top and Senior management 

(levels 13-16) 
  87   91 14   2 6.2 334 

Total 4 428   85   641   100 6.9  5 350 

 

Table 3.10.2 Disability leave (temporary and permanent) for the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 

2017 

Salary band Total days 

% Days with 

Medical 

certification 

Number of 

Employees 

using 

disability 

leave 

% of total 

employees 

using 

disability 

leave 

Average 

days per 

employee 

Estimated 

Cost 

(R’000) 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 5 100 1 3.7 5 3 

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 116 100 9 33.3 13 79 

Highly skilled production 

(Levels 6-8) 
432 100 11 40.7 39 515 

Highly skilled supervision 

(Levels 9-12) 
126 100 6 22.2 21 313 

Senior management (Levels 

13-16) 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 679 100 27 100 25 910 
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The table below summarises the utilisation of annual leave. The wage agreement concluded with 

trade unions in the PSCBC in 2000 requires management of annual leave to prevent high levels 

of accrued leave being paid at the time of termination of service. 

Table 3.10.3 Annual Leave for the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Salary band Total days taken 
Number of Employees 

using annual leave 

Average per 

employee 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2)  1 304.8 106 12.3 

Skilled Levels 3-5) 9 529.4 429 22.2 

Highly skilled production (Levels 

6-8) 
7 580.4 378 20 

Highly skilled supervision(Levels 

9-12) 
3 762 165 22.8 

Senior management (Levels 13-

16) 
590 37 15.9 

Total  22 766.6 1 115 20.4 

 

Table 3.10.4 Capped leave for the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Salary band 

Total days of 

capped leave 

taken 

Number of 

Employees using 

capped leave 

Average number of 

days taken per 

employee 

Average capped 

leave per employee 

as on 31 March 

2018 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 0 0 0 13 

Skilled Levels 3-5) 23.3 7 3 58 

Highly skilled production 
(Levels 6-8) 

6 2 3 61 

Highly skilled 
supervision(Levels 9-12) 

49 6 8 47 

Senior management 
(Levels 13-16) 

3 1 3 57 

Total 81.3 16 5 57 
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The following table summarise payments made to employees as a result of leave that was not 
taken. 
 

Table 3.10.5 Leave payouts for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Reason 
Total amount 

(R’000) 

Number of 

employees 

Average per 

employee (R’000) 

Leave payout for 2017/18 due to non-utilisation of 

leave for the previous cycle 
259 403 7 37 058 

Capped leave payouts on termination of service for 

2017/18  
1 470 725 35 42 021 

Current leave payout on termination of service for 

2017/18 
1 370 498 41 33 427 

Total 3 100 626 83 37 357 

 
3.10. HIV/AIDS & Health Promotion Programmes 

Table 3.11.1 Steps taken to reduce the risk of occupational exposure 

Units/categories of employees identified to be at high risk of contracting HIV 
& related diseases (if any)  

Key steps taken to reduce the 
risk  

None  

  

 

Table 3.11.2 Details of Health Promotion and HIV/AIDS Programmes 

Question Yes No Details, if yes 

1. Has the department designated a member of the SMS to 
implement the provisions contained in Part VI E of Chapter 
1 of the Public Service Regulations, 2001? If so, provide 
her/his name and position.  

x 

Post of Senior Manager: HR 
currently vacant and advertised.  
 
The Deputy Director: Employee 
Health & Wellness, BVC Thithi is 
implementing the programme, whilst 
the CD: Corporate Services also 
oversees and guides 
implementation.  

2. Does the department have a dedicated unit or has it 
designated specific staff members to promote the health 
and well-being of your employees? If so, indicate the 
number of employees who are involved in this task and the 
annual budget that is available for this purpose.   

x  

Four officials 
R280 000 for operational costs 

3. Has the department introduced an Employee Assistance 
or Health Promotion Programme for your employees? If so, 
indicate the key elements/services of this Programme.  

x  

-Consultation and Training 
-Problem identification assessment 
-Constructive confrontation 
-Referral for confrontation 
-Referral for diagnosis 
-Consultation to work organization 
for health 
-Evaluation 
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Question Yes No Details, if yes 

4. Has the department established (a) committee(s) as 
contemplated in Part VI E.5 (e) of Chapter 1 of the Public 
Service Regulations, 2001? If so, please provide the names 
of the members of the committee and the stakeholder(s) 
that they represent.   

x  

OHS & Wellness Committees 
E Seate – OHS Committee 
T Mamome – OHS Committee 
M Mmutle – OHS & Wellness 
Committee 
L Msibi – OHS Committee 
M Maduna – Wellness Committee 
MA Motseneng - Wellness Com 
ND Mollo – Wellness Committee 
M Motloung – OHS Committee 
R van Loggerenberg –OHS 
Committee 
S Lebitsa – OHS Committee 

5. Has the department reviewed its employment policies 
and practices to ensure that these do not unfairly 
discriminate against employees on the basis of their HIV 
status? If so, list the employment policies/practices so 
reviewed.   

x 
 

All Employee Health & Wellness 
Policies are to be reviewed in 2018; 
namely; 

 HIV&AIDS,TB & STI`s 
Management Policy 

 Health & Productivity  
Management Policy 

 Safety Health Environment 
Risk Quality Management 
Policy 

 Wellness Management Policy  

 Personal Protective & 
Equipment Policy 

 Bereavement Policy 
 

Unfair discrimination on the basis of 
HIV Status forms part of:  

 HIV&AIDS,TB & STI`s 
Management Policy 

 Health & Productivity  
Management Policy 

 Safety Health Environment 
Risk Quality Management 
Policy 

 

6. Has the department introduced measures to protect HIV-
positive employees or those perceived to be HIV-positive 
from discrimination? If so, list the key elements of these 
measures.  

x  

Development, approval and 
implementation   of HIV&AIDS TB, 
STI`s Policy which address the 
issues of:  
Human Rights, 
Stigmatization, Discrimination and 
Confidentiality. 
 
EAP Programme for Confidential 
Counselling, Care, Support and 
referral to Specialized Services of 
HIV-positive employees. 
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Question Yes No Details, if yes 

7. Does the department encourage its employees to 
undergo Voluntary Counselling and Testing? If so, list the 
results that you have you achieved.  

x  

Creating an enabling workplace 
environment, awareness and 
promotion of accessibility of HCT in 
workplace. 

HCT is  conducted through-out the 
department on quarterly basis and 
number of officials tested is 
increasing gradually, stigma.is still 
noticed and this is noticed by same 
people testing most of the time, 
others  preferring to test privately at 
their own doctors or clinics. 

 

8. Has the department developed measures/indicators to 
monitor & evaluate the impact of its health promotion 
programme? If so, list these measures/indicators. 

x  

 No of HCT conducted 

 No of awareness Campaigns 
conducted 

 No of information sessions 
conducted 

 No of Condoms distributed 

 No of HIV&AIDS Posture and 
flyers distributed 

 No of employees referred for 
ARV`s 
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3.11. Labour Relations 

Table 3.12.1 Collective agreements for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Subject matter Date 

Total number of Collective agreements None 

  

 

The following table summarises the outcome of disciplinary hearings conducted within the department 
for the year under review. 
 

Table 3.12.2 Misconduct and disciplinary hearings finalised for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 

March 2018 

Outcomes of disciplinary hearings Number % of total 

Correctional counselling 0 0 

Verbal warning 0 0 

Written warning 0 0 

Final written warning 1 100 

Suspended without pay 0 0 

Fine 0 0 

Demotion 0 0 

Dismissal 0 0 

Not guilty 0 0 

Case withdrawn 0 0 

Total 1 100 

 

Table 3.12.3 Types of misconduct addressed at disciplinary hearings for the period 1 April 2017 

and 31 March 2018 

 Type of misconduct  Number % of total 

Theft 1 100 

Total 1 100 

 

Table 3.12.4 Grievances logged for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Grievances Number % of Total 

Number of grievances resolved 5 50 

Number of grievances not resolved 5 50 

Total number of grievances lodged 10 100 
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Table 3.12.5 Disputes logged with Councils for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Disputes Number % of Total 

Number of disputes upheld 1 50* 

Number of disputes dismissed 1 50* 

Total number of disputes lodged 5 100 

*Percentage of total finalised 

Table 3.12.6 Strike actions for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018  

Total number of persons working days lost                                                                                       7.75 

Total costs working days lost                                                                                                                                            Not available 

Amount recovered as a result of no work no pay (R’000) R4 

 

Table 3.12.7 Precautionary suspensions for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Number of people suspended 2 

Number of people who’s suspension exceeded 30 days 2 

Average number of days suspended 130 

Cost of suspension(R’000) R531 314 
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3.12. Skills development 

This section highlights the efforts of the department with regard to skills development.  
 

Table 3.13.1 Training needs identified for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Occupational category Gender 

Number of 

employees 

as at 1 April 

2017 

Training needs identified at start of the reporting 

period 

Learnerships 

Skills 

Programmes 

& other short 

courses 

Other 

forms of 

training 

Total 

Legislators, senior officials 
and managers 

Female 7 0 11 0 11 

Male 19 0 16 0 16 

Professionals 
Female 132 0 93 15 108 

Male 138 0 270 15 285 

Technicians and associate 
professionals 

Female 116 0 0 0 0 

Male 134 0 0 0 0 

Clerks  
Female 138 0 0 0 0 

Male 71 0 0 0 0 

Service and sales workers 
Female 53 0 0 0 0 

Male 84 0 0 0 0 

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers 

Female 0 0 0 0 0 

Male 0 0 0 0 0 

Craft and related trades 
workers 

Female 0 0 0 0 0 

Male 2 0 0 0 0 

Plant and machine 
operators and assemblers 

Female 1 0 0 0 0 

Male 26 0 0 0 0 

Elementary occupations 
Female 95 0 0 0 0 

Male 101 0 0 0 0 

Sub Total 
Female 542 0 104 15 119 

Male 575 0 286 15 301 

Total  1 117 0 390 30 420 
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Table 3.13.2 Training provided for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Occupational category Gender 

Number of 

employees 

as at 1 April 

2017 

Training provided within the reporting period 

Learnerships 

Skills 

Programmes 

& other short 

courses 

Other 

forms of 

training 

Total 

Legislators, senior 
officials and managers 

Female 7 0 4 0 4 

Male 

 
19 0 7 0 7 

Professionals 
Female 132 0 83 10 93 

Male 138 0 127 6 133 

Technicians and 
associate professionals 

Female 116 0 0 0 0 

Male 134 0 1 0 1 

Clerks  
Female 138 0 7 0 7 

Male 71 0 2 0 2 

Service and sales 
workers 

Female 53 0 0 0 0 

Male 84 0 0 0 0 

Skilled agriculture and 
fishery workers 

Female 0 0 0 0 0 

Male 0 0 0 0 0 

Craft and related trades 
workers 

Female 0 0 0 0 0 

Male 2 0 0 0 0 

Plant and machine 
operators and 
assemblers 

Female 1 0 0 0 0 

Male 26 0 0 0 0 

Elementary occupations 
Female 95 4 10 0 14 

Male 101 15 6  21 

Sub Total 
Female 542 4 104 10 118 

Male 575 15 143 6 164 

Total  1 117 19 247 16 282 

 
3.13. Injury on duty 

The following tables provide basic information on injury on duty. 

Table 3.14.1 Injury on duty for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Nature of injury on duty Number % of total 

Required basic medical attention only 12 100 

Temporary Total Disablement 0 0 

Permanent Disablement 0 0 

Fatal 0 0 

Total 12 100 
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Utilisation of Consultants  

Table 3.15.1 Report on consultant appointments using appropriated funds for the period 1 April 

2017 and 31 March 2018 

Project title Total number of consultants that 

worked on project 

Duration 

(work days) 

Contract value in 

Rand 

- - - - 

- - - - 

 

Table 3.15.2 Analysis of consultant appointments using appropriated funds, in terms of 

Historically Disadvantaged Individuals (HDIs) for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Project title 
Percentage ownership by 

HDI groups 

Percentage management 

by HDI groups 

Number of consultants 

from HDI groups that work 

on the project 

    

    

 

Table 3.15.3 Report on consultant appointments using Donor funds for the period 1 April 2017 

and 31 March 2018 

Project title 
Total Number of consultants 

that worked on project 

Duration 

(Work days) 

Donor and contract value in 

Rand 

- - - - 

- - - - 

 

Table 3.15.4 Analysis of consultant appointments using Donor funds, in terms of Historically 

Disadvantaged Individuals (HDIs) for the period 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 

Project title 
Percentage ownership by 

HDI groups 

Percentage management 

by HDI groups 

Number of consultants 

from HDI groups that work 

on the project 

- - - - 

- - - - 
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3.14. Severance Packages 

Table 3.16.1 Granting of employee initiated severance packages for the period 1 April 2017 and 

31 March 2018 

Salary band 

Number of 

applications 

received 

Number of 

applications 

referred to the 

MPSA 

Number of 

applications 

supported by MPSA 

Number of 

packages 

approved by 

department 

Lower skilled (Levels 1-

2) 
0 0 0 0 

Skilled Levels 3-5) 0 0 0 0 

Highly skilled production 

(Levels 6-8) 
0 0 0 0 

Highly skilled 

supervision(Levels 9-12) 
0 0 0 0 

Senior management 

(Levels 13-16) 
0 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 0 0 
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PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

1. REPORT OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL   

Report of the auditor-general to the Free State Legislature on vote no. 11: Department of 

Agriculture and Rural Development  

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Disclaimer of opinion 

1. I was engaged to audit the financial statements of the Department of Agriculture and Rural 

Development set out from page 132 to 203 onwards, which comprise the appropriation 

statement, the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, the statement of 

financial performance, statement of changes in net assets, and cash flow statement for the 

year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies.  

2. I do not express an opinion on the financial statements of the department. Because of the 

significance of the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion section of this 

auditor’s report, I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a 

basis for an audit opinion on these financial statements. 

Basis for disclaimer of opinion 

Transfers and subsidies 

3. The department did not correctly classify payments made for a project in terms of the 

nature of the transaction in accordance with chapter 8, Expenditure, in the Modified Cash 

Standard (MCS). The department classified these transactions as transfers and subsidies 

instead of expenditure for goods and services and expenditure for capital assets. This 

resulted in transfer payments being overstated by R20 000 000 (2017: R21 200 000). In 

addition, I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for the amounts 

disclosed as transfers and subsidies due to the unavailability of supporting documentation. 

I could not confirm transfers and subsidies by alternative means. Consequently, I was 

unable to determine whether any further adjustments to transfers and subsidies stated at R 

29 871 000 (2017: R90 685 000) in note 7 to the financial statements were necessary. 
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Immovable tangible capital assets – work-in-progress 

4. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for capital work-in-progress due 

to the unavailability of supporting documents for projects done by implementing agents on 

behalf of the department.  

I could not confirm capital work-in-progress by alternative means. Consequently, I was 

unable to determine whether any adjustments to capital work-in-progress stated at R210 

231 000 (2017: R111 946 000) in note 29.3 to the financial statements were necessary. 

Goods and services 

5. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for expenditure relating to 

goods and services due to the unavailability of supporting documents to confirm that goods 

and services had actually been received and correctly accounted for. I could not confirm 

goods and services by alternative means. Consequently, I was unable to determine 

whether any adjustments to goods and services stated at R155 974 000 (2017: R179 361 

000) in note 4 to the financial statements were necessary. 

Expenditure for capital assets 

6. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for expenditure for capital 

assets due to the unavailability of supporting documents to confirm that the capital assets 

had actually been received and correctly accounted for. I could not confirm expenditure for 

capital assets by alternative means. Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any 

further adjustments to expenditure for capital assets stated at R131 830 000 (2017: 

R121 681 000) in note 8 to the financial statements were necessary. 

Irregular expenditure 

7. The department did not disclose all instances of irregular expenditure in the notes to the 

financial statements, as required by section 40(3)(b)(i) of the Public Finance Management 

Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA). The department made payments in 

contravention of the supply chain management (SCM) requirements, resulting in irregular 

expenditure being understated by R191 174 383 (2017: R279 117 020). 

Material uncertainty relating to going concern 

8. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

9. Note 16 to the financial statements indicates claims against the department of 

R76 029 000, accruals of R2 600 000 and unpaid employee benefits of R60 142 000 as at 

31 March 2018. These events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in note 

16, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 

department’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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Emphasis of matter 

10. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Restatement of corresponding figures 

11. As disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 

2017 have been restated as a result of errors in the financial statements of the department 

at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2018. 

Other matters 

12. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Service delivery 

13. During the 2012-13 financial year, the department established a dairy farm to the contract 

value of R570 000 000, which was to be contributed by two parties (department 

contributing R342 000 000 and Estina (Pty) Ltd contributing R228 000 000). During the 

contract period, the department spent R143 950 000. It is not known how much Estina (Pty) 

Ltd contributed. The purpose of the project was to create opportunities for the emerging 

milk producing farmers in the Phumelela local municipal area (Vrede) and the anticipated 

business model was to source milk from surrounding dairy farmers and community 

members. The department had identified approximately 100 emerging farmers as 

beneficiaries, but at the date of this report it had not been handed over to these 

beneficiaries. The contract with Estina (Pty) Ltd was cancelled in August 2014 and 

payments amounting to R106 252 652 were made to Estina (Pty) Ltd for outstanding 

orders.  

14. The department is currently funding the farm through a management contract with the Free 

State Development Corporation (FDC). Payments transferred to the FDC for the operations 

of the farm amounted to R20 million in 2017-18 and R51,2 million in prior years.  

Unaudited supplementary schedules 

15. The supplementary information set out on page 204 to 216 does not form part of the 

financial statements and is presented as additional information. I have not audited these 

schedules and, accordingly, I do not express an opinion thereon. 

Responsibilities of the accounting officer for the financial statements 

16. The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in accordance with the MCS and the requirements of the PFMA and 

the Division of Revenue Act of South Africa, 2017 (Act No. 3 of 2017) (Dora), and for such 

internal control as the accounting officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
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of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.  

17. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting officer is responsible for assessing the 

Department of Agriculture and Rural Development ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the accounting officer either intends to liquidate the department 

or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

18. My responsibility is to conduct an audit of the financial statements in accordance with the 

International Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of 

the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion section of this auditor’s report, I 

was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit 

opinion on these financial statements.  

19. I am independent of the department in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants (IESBA code) and the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I have fulfilled 
my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA 
code. 

Report on the audit of the annual performance report 

Introduction and scope 

20. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) 

and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material 

findings on the reported performance information against predetermined objectives for 

selected programmes presented in the annual performance report. I performed procedures 

to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

 

21. My procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the 

approved performance planning documents of the department. I have not evaluated the 

completeness and appropriateness of the performance indicators included in the planning 

documents. My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to 

planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods that may be 

included as part of the reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not 

extend to these matters.  

22. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in 

accordance with the criteria developed from the performance management and reporting 

framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following selected programmes 
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presented in the annual performance report of the department for the year ended 31 March 

2018: 

 

Programmes Pages in the annual 

performance report 

Programme 2 – Sustainable resource management 55 – 58 

Programme 3 – Farmer support 58 – 61 

Programme 4 – Veterinary services 61 – 63 

 

23. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was 

properly presented and whether performance was consistent with the approved 

performance planning documents. I performed further procedures to determine whether the 

indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed the reliability of 

the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and 

complete. 

 

24. The material findings in respect of the usefulness and reliability of the selected 

programmes are as follows:  

Programme 3 – Farmer support  

Various indicators 

25. The source information for the achievement of the planned indicators listed in the table 

below was not clearly defined. In addition, I was also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate 

audit evidence for the reported achievement of these indicators. This was due to limitations 

placed on the scope of my work as the department could not provide evidence confirming 

the application of the assessment criteria to classify between smallholders and commercial 

producers. I was unable to confirm the reported achievement by alternative means. 

Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any adjustments were required to the 

reported achievement. 

 

 

 

Indicator description Reported 

achievement 

Number of smallholder producers receiving support.  141 

Number of commercial producers supported 27 
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Number of jobs created through implementation of projects 

26. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for the reported achievement of 

target number of jobs created through implementation of projects. This was due to 

limitations placed on the scope of my work and the systems and processes that enable 

reliable reporting of the achievement against these targets were also not adequately 

designed. I was unable to confirm the reported achievement by alternative means. 

Consequently, I was unable to determine whether any adjustments were required to the 

reported achievements of 292 as reported in the annual performance report. 

 

Number of producers supported with agricultural advice 

27. The achievement for target number of producers supported with agricultural advice 

reported in the annual performance report was 6 903. However, the supporting evidence 

provided did not agree to the reported achievement.  

28. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 

performance information for the following programmes: 

 Programme 2 – Sustainable resource management 

 Programme 4 – Veterinary services 

Other matters 

29. I draw attention to the matters below.  

Achievement of planned targets 

30. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 53 to 72 for information on the 

achievement of planned targets for the year and explanations provided for the under and 

over achievement of a number of targets. This information should be considered in the 

context of the material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 

information in paragraphs 25 to 27 of this report. 

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation 

Introduction and scope 

31. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a 

responsibility to report material findings on the compliance of the department with specific 

matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather 

evidence to express assurance.  
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32. The material findings on compliance with specific matters in key legislations are as follows: 

Annual financial statements 

33. The financial statements submitted for auditing were not prepared in accordance with the 

prescribed financial reporting framework and supported by full and proper records as 

required by section 40(1)(a) and (b) of the PFMA. Material misstatements identified by the 

auditors in the submitted financial statements were not adequately corrected and the 

supporting records could not be provided subsequently, which resulted in the financial 

statements receiving a disclaimer of opinion. 

Expenditure management 

34. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent irregular expenditure, as required 

by section 38(1)(c)(ii) of the PFMA and treasury regulation 9.1.1. As reported in the basis 

for disclaimer of opinion. the value as disclosed in note 23 of the financial statements does 

not reflect the full extent of the irregular expenditure incurred. The majority of the irregular 

expenditure incurred was due to non-compliance with the SCM requirements by the 

implementing agents. 

Utilisation of grants 

35. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the payments for the 

CASP, ILLIMA and EPWP grants incurred through implementing agents were spent in 

accordance with the applicable grant framework, in contravention of section 17(1) of Dora. 

The department did not have adequate support on the spending of the funds by the 

implementing agents. 

Strategic planning and performance management 

36. Specific information systems were not established to enable the monitoring of progress 

made towards achieving targets, core objectives and service delivery as required by public 

service regulation 25(1)(e)(i) and (iii). 

Other information 

37. The accounting officer is responsible for the other information. The other information 

comprises the information included in the annual report. The other information does not 

include the financial statements, the auditor’s report and those selected programmes 

presented in the annual performance report that have been specifically reported in this 

auditor’s report.  
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38. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on the reported performance 

information and compliance with legislation do not cover the other information and I do not 

express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

39. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

statements and the selected programmes presented in the annual performance report, or 

my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

40. As a result of the disclaimer of opinion expressed on the financial statements, I do not 

conclude on the material misstatements of the other information relating to the financial 

statements. If, based on the work I have performed relating to the audit of performance 

information and compliance with legislation, I conclude that there is a material 

misstatement of this other information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to 

report in this regard. 

Internal control deficiencies 

41. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, reported 

performance information and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my objective 

was not to express any form of assurance on it. The matters reported below are limited to 

the significant internal control deficiencies that resulted in the basis for the disclaimer of 

opinion, the findings on the annual performance report and the findings on compliance with 

legislation included in this report.  

42. Leadership did not ensure that all significant matters reported in the previous year were 

adequately addressed, which resulted in material misstatements in the financial 

statements. Furthermore, management did not adequately oversee compliance with laws 

and regulations and internal controls. Adequate measures to address significant issues 

raised in the prior year as included in the action plan were not sufficient as the issues 

reoccurred. 

43. Lack of monitoring of the procurement processes followed by the implementing agents 

resulted in the department incurring irregular expenditure. 

44. Leadership did not establish effective mechanisms to hold individuals accountable where 

internal controls were not adhered to. 

45. Management did not ensure that the indicators are well defined and supported by standard 

operating procedure that are clear to enable data to be collected consistently. Furthermore, 

management did not ensure that evidence provided agrees to supporting evidence. 
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46. The audit committee provided oversight and advice on improving the controls relating to the 
significant internal control deficiencies but there was limited progress made as these issues 
still reoccurred and resulted in material findings.  

 

Other reports 

47. I draw attention to the following engagements conducted by various parties that had, or 

could have, an impact on the matters reported in the department’s financial statements, 

reported performance information, compliance with applicable legislation and other related 

matters. These reports did not form part of my opinion on the financial statements or my 

findings on the reported performance information or compliance with legislation. 

48. An investigation was instituted by the National Treasury into the establishment of the Vrede 

dairy project in the Free State in line with the Department of Agriculture and Rural 

Development’s Mohoma Mobung initiative. The report has not been made officially 

available to the department as at the date of this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


